
 

 

 

 

City of Fayetteville 

City Council Meeting 
 
 

FAYETTEVILLE CITY COUNCIL 

 

Edward J. Johnson, Jr., Mayor 

Paul C. Oddo, Jr., Mayor Pro Tem 

Kathaleen Brewer 

Richard J. Hoffman 

Harlan Shirley 

Scott Stacy 

 
STAFF 

 

Ray Gibson, City Manager 

Anne Barksdale, City Clerk 

 
MEETING LOCATION 

 

Fayetteville City Hall 

Council Chambers 

240 South Glynn Street 
Fayetteville, Ga. 30214 

 

MEETING TIME 

EACH MONTH 

 

Regular Session 

1
st
 & 3

rd
 Thursday – 

6:00PM 

 
MAYOR AND COUNCIL OFFICE 

 

Fayetteville City Hall 

240 South Glynn Street 

Fayetteville, Ga. 30214 

 

Phone: 770-461-6029 

Fax: 770-460-4238 

 

Web Site: 

www.fayetteville-ga.gov 

 

E-Mail Address: 

abarksdale@fayetteville-ga.gov 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda 

May 30, 2018 

10:00 AM 

 

Call to Order 

Opening Prayer 

The Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag 

Approval of Agenda 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

1. Consider Resolution R-31-18 Authorizing the Execution of 

Documents Relating to the Acquisition of 9.77 Acres of Land and 

Facilities Located Thereon That is Intended to be used for the Future 

Site of a Replacement City Hall Facility and Recreational Facilities: 

Presented by City Manager Ray Gibson 

Public Comments 

  

 





 

 

 

 

City of Fayetteville 

City Council Meeting 
 
 

FAYETTEVILLE CITY COUNCIL 

 

Edward J. Johnson, Jr., Mayor 

Paul C. Oddo, Jr., Mayor Pro Tem 

Kathaleen Brewer 

Richard J. Hoffman 

Harlan Shirley 

Scott Stacy 

 
STAFF 

 

Ray Gibson, City Manager 

Anne Barksdale, City Clerk 

 
MEETING LOCATION 

 

Fayetteville City Hall 

Council Chambers 

240 South Glynn Street 
Fayetteville, Ga. 30214 

 

MEETING TIME 

EACH MONTH 

 

Regular Session 

1
st
 & 3

rd
 Thursday – 

6:00PM 

 
MAYOR AND COUNCIL OFFICE 

 

Fayetteville City Hall 

240 South Glynn Street 

Fayetteville, Ga. 30214 

 

Phone: 770-461-6029 

Fax: 770-460-4238 

 

Web Site: 

www.fayetteville-ga.gov 

 

E-Mail Address: 

abarksdale@fayetteville-ga.gov 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda 

May 30, 2018 

10:00 AM 

 

Call to Order 

Opening Prayer 

The Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag 

Approval of Agenda 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

1. Consider Resolution R-31-18 Authorizing the Execution of 

Documents Relating to the Acquisition of 9.77 Acres of Land and 

Facilities Located Thereon That is Intended to be used for the Future 

Site of a Replacement City Hall Facility and Recreational Facilities: 

Presented by City Manager Ray Gibson 

Public Comments 

 

 



STATE OF GEORGIA 

CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE 

RESOLUTION 0-31-18 

 

1 

 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE 

AUTHORIZING, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE EXECUTION OF DOCUMENTS 

RELATING TO THE ACQUISITION OF 9.77 ACRES OF LAND AND FACILITIES 

LOCATED THEREON THAT IS INTENDED TO BE USED FOR THE FUTURE SITE 

OF A REPLACEMENT CITY HALL FACILITY AND RECREATIONAL FACILITIES. 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to that certain Real Property Purchase Agreement dated February 

5, 2018 between the Fayette County School District (the “School District”), acting by and 

through the Fayette County Board of Education, and the City of Fayetteville, Georgia (the 

“City”), the City agreed to acquire from the School District and the School District agreed to sell 

to the City, certain real property consisting of approximately 9.77 acres located at 210 Stonewall 

Avenue West, Fayetteville, Georgia 30214 (the “Town Center Project”), which is comprised of 

Lot 1 and Lot 2 on the preliminary survey (the “Preliminary Survey”) attached hereto and 

marked Exhibit F; and 

WHEREAS, the City intends to use a portion of the Town Center Project consisting of 

approximately 2.01 acres depicted as “Lot 2” on the Preliminary Survey (the “City Hall 

Project”) for the future site of a replacement City Hall facility; and 

WHEREAS, the City desires to use available cash to acquire the City Hall Project; and 

WHEREAS, it is the desire, and in the best interest of, the City to be reimbursed for the 

expenditures made for the City Hall Project upon the issuance of subsequent financing for  the 

City Hall Project by conduit bond financing, entering into a lease purchase agreement, or 

entering into an installment sale agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the City intends to use the remaining approximately 7.76 acres of the Town 

Center Project (the “Recreational Project”), which is depicted as “Lot 1” on the Preliminary 

Survey, for recreational facilities, including green space; and 

WHEREAS, at the request of the Mayor and Council of the City, the Georgia Municipal 

Association, Inc. (the “Seller”) will purchase the Recreational Project and the facilities located 

thereon; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is the desire, and in the best interest of, the City to purchase the 

Recreational Project from the Seller in accordance with an Installment Sale Agreement, dated as 

of the closing date (the “Installment Sale Agreement”); and  

 

WHEREAS, the Seller’s interest in the Installment Sale Agreement will be assigned to 

Branch Banking and Trust Company (the “Bank”) pursuant to an Assignment and Transfer 

Agreement, dated as of the closing date, (the “Transfer Agreement”), between the Seller, as 

assignor, and the Bank, as assignee; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Seller will execute a Deed to Secure Debt and Security Agreement, 

dated as of the closing date (the “Security Deed”) in favor of the Bank; and 

 



STATE OF GEORGIA 

CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE 

RESOLUTION 0-31-18 

 

2 

 

WHEREAS, the Seller and the Bank have requested that the City execute and deliver an 

Agreement Regarding Environmental Activity, dated as of the closing date (the “Environmental 

Agreement”), among the City, the Seller and the Bank; and 

 

WHEREAS, attached hereto are forms of the following documents: 

 

Exhibit A Installment Sale Agreement, 

Exhibit B Assignment and Transfer Agreement, 

Exhibit C Deed to Secure Debt and Security Agreement, 

Exhibit D Agreement Regarding Environmental Activity, and 

Exhibit E The financial terms of the Installment Sale Agreement. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, AND IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED by 

the Mayor and Council of the City of Fayetteville as follows:   

 

Section 1. Findings.  The obligation of the City to make the payments under the 

Installment Sale Agreement is annually renewable as provided therein. The obligation of the City 

to make such payments will not constitute a debt of the State of Georgia, any political 

subdivision or municipal corporation of the State of Georgia, including the City, within the 

meaning of any constitutional or statutory limitation on indebtedness. The Installment Sale 

Agreement does not directly or contingently obligate the City to make any payments beyond 

those appropriated for the City’s then current calendar year.   

 

The City held a public hearing as required by O.C.G.A. Section 36-60-13, as amended 

(the “Act”), on May 30, 2018, which was prior to the date of closing, and satisfies all the other 

requirements contained in the Act. 

 

The Recitals set forth in this Resolution are hereby incorporated as a substantive part of 

this Resolution. 

 

Section 2. Authorization of Acquisition of Town Center Project.  The Mayor and 

Council of the City hereby approve the closing of the acquisition of the Town Center Project, to 

include the financing of the Recreational Project and the payment of cash in an amount not to 

exceed $700,000 from available funds of the City for the City Hall Project, including a 

proportionate share of the real estate closing costs payable.  The City shall apportion the 

aggregate cost, including real estate closing costs, to the City Hall Project in proportion to the 

acreage comprising the City Hall Project divided by the total acreage of the Town Center Project.  

 

Section 3. Authorization of Installment Sale Agreement.  The form, terms and 

provisions of the Installment Sale Agreement presented at this meeting are hereby approved, and 

all of the terms and provisions thereof are hereby incorporated herein by this reference as if the 

Installment Sale Agreement was set out in this Resolution in its entirety. The Mayor and the 

Clerk are hereby authorized, empowered and directed to execute, acknowledge and deliver the 

Installment Sale Agreement. The Installment Sale Agreement shall be in substantially the form 

now before this meeting and hereby approved, or with such changes therein as may be deemed 

necessary by the persons executing the same to accomplish the purposes of the transactions 



STATE OF GEORGIA 

CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE 

RESOLUTION 0-31-18 

 

3 

 

contemplated therein and in this Resolution. The execution of the Installment Sale Agreement 

shall constitute conclusive evidence that the Installment Sale Agreement and any and all changes 

thereto have been approved by the persons executing the same. 

 

Section 4. Consent to Transfer Agreement.  The Mayor and Council hereby consent 

to the form of the Transfer Agreement presented at this meeting, or with such changes as may be 

hereafter made as shall be in furtherance of the transactions contemplated therein and in this 

Resolution and as shall not be inconsistent with or contrary to the matters contemplated therein 

and in this Resolution. The Mayor and Council hereby further consent to the execution and 

delivery of the Transfer Agreement by the parties thereto.   

 

Section 5. Consent to Security Deed.  The Mayor and Council hereby consent to the 

form of the Security Deed presented at this meeting, or with such changes as may be hereafter 

made as shall be in furtherance of the transactions contemplated therein and in this Resolution 

and as shall not be inconsistent with or contrary to the matters contemplated therein and in this 

Resolution. The Mayor and Council hereby further consent to the execution and delivery of the 

Security Deed by the parties thereto.   

 

Section 6. Authorization of Environmental Agreement.  The form, terms and 

provisions of the Environmental Agreement presented at this meeting are hereby approved, and 

all of the terms and provisions thereof are hereby incorporated herein by this reference as if the 

Environmental Agreement was set out in this Resolution in its entirety. The Mayor and the Clerk 

are hereby authorized, empowered and directed to execute, acknowledge and deliver the 

Environmental Agreement.  The Environmental Agreement shall be in substantially the form 

now before this meeting and hereby approved, or with such changes therein as may be deemed 

necessary by the persons executing the same to accomplish the purposes of the transactions 

contemplated therein and in this Resolution.  The execution of the Environmental Agreement 

shall constitute conclusive evidence that the Environmental Agreement and any and all changes 

thereto have been approved by the persons executing the same.   

 

Section 7. General Authority.  The Mayor, City Manager and the Clerk are hereby 

authorized, empowered and directed to do all such acts and things and to execute all such 

documents as may be necessary to carry out and comply with the provisions of the documents 

herein authorized and as may be necessary to carry out the purposes and intents of this 

Resolution.   

 

If the Mayor shall not be able to execute the documents herein authorized, the Mayor Pro 

Tem is hereby authorized to execute the documents on behalf of the City.  If the Clerk shall not 

be able to execute the documents herein authorized, the Assistant Clerk is hereby authorized to 

execute the documents on behalf of the City. 

 

Section 8. Appropriation of Minimum Annual Appropriated Amount.  The City 

hereby appropriates available and uncommitted funds in its budget for the current fiscal year in 

the amount of the Minimum Annual Appropriated Amount (as defined in the Installment Sale 

Agreement). 

 



STATE OF GEORGIA 

CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE 

RESOLUTION 0-31-18 

 

4 

 

Section 9. Bank Qualification Designation.  The Installment Sale Agreement is 

hereby designated as a “qualified tax-exempt obligation” within the meaning of Section 

265(b)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”).  The aggregate face amount of all 

tax-exempt obligations (other than private activity bonds as defined in Section 141 of the Code) 

issued by the City and the entities with whom aggregation is required pursuant to Section 

265(b)(3)(E) of the Code is not reasonably expected to exceed $10,000,000 during the year 2018. 

 

Section 10. Authorization of IRS Form 8038-G.  Any officer of the City is hereby 

authorized to sign and file or cause to be filed a completed Internal Revenue Service Form 8038-

G as required by Section 149(e) of the Code. 

 

Section 11. Authorization of Federal Tax Certificate.  Any officer of the City is hereby 

authorized to execute a federal tax certification in order to comply with Section 148 of the Code 

and the applicable Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder. 

 

 Section 12. Reimbursement.  The City intends to finance an amount approximately 

equal to $12,000,000 to pay the costs of the City Hall Project, including the reimbursement of 

certain costs incurred by the City prior to the receipt of any proceeds of a financing, upon terms 

acceptable to the City, as authorized in a resolution to be hereafter adopted and to take all further 

action which is necessary or desirable in connection therewith.  The City further intends this to 

be a declaration of “official intent” to reimburse expenditures within the meaning of Treasury 

Regulation §1.150-2. 

 

Section 13. Actions Ratified, Approved and Confirmed.  All acts and doings of the 

officers, employees or agents of the City which are in conformity with the purposes and intents 

of this Resolution are hereby ratified, approved and confirmed. 

 

Section 14.  No Personal Liability.  No stipulation, obligation or agreement contained 

in this Resolution or in the documents authorized hereby shall be deemed to be a stipulation, 

obligation or agreement of any officer, agent or employee of the City in his or her individual 

capacity, and no such officer, agent or employee shall be personally liable or be subject to 

personal liability or accountability. 

 

Section 15. Severability of Invalid Provisions.  If any one or more of the agreements 

or provisions contained in this Resolution or the documents authorized hereby shall be held 

contrary to an express provision of law or contrary to the policy of express law, though not 

expressly prohibited, or against public policy, or shall for any reason whatsoever be held invalid, 

then such agreements or provisions shall be null and void and shall be deemed separable from 

the remaining agreements and provisions and shall in no way affect the validity of any of the 

other valid agreements and provisions. 

 

Section 16. Terms of Loan.  The financial terms of the Installment Sale Agreement 

(the “Commitment Letter”) are set forth in the attached Exhibit E prepared by the Bank. The 

Mayor and the Clerk are hereby authorized, empowered and directed to execute, acknowledge 

and deliver the acceptance of the Commitment Letter.    

 



STATE OF GEORGIA 

CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE 

RESOLUTION 0-31-18 

 

5 

 

Section 17. Repealing Clause.  All resolutions and ordinances or parts thereof in 

conflict with the provisions herein contained are, to the extent of such conflict, hereby 

superseded and repealed. 

 

Section 18. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its 

adoption. 

 

[Signatures Follow]



STATE OF GEORGIA 

CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE 

RESOLUTION 0-31-18 

 

 

 

Adopted this 30
th

 day of May, 2018. 

 

 

 

[SEAL] 

 

CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE, GEORGIA 

 

 

By: _________________________________ 

Edward J. Johnson, Jr.,  Mayor 

 

 

 

Attest:  

 

 

 

By:___________________________ 

      Anne Barksdale, City Clerk 

 

 

Approved as to Form and Content: 

 

 

 

By:___________________________________ 

      David P. Winkle, City Attorney 

 

 

 

 

 



STATE OF GEORGIA 

CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE 

RESOLUTION 0-31-18 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 

 

Installment Sale Agreement 

 



STATE OF GEORGIA 

CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE 

RESOLUTION 0-31-18 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “B” 

 

Assignment and Transfer Agreement 



STATE OF GEORGIA 

CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE 

RESOLUTION 0-31-18 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “C” 

 

Deed to Secure Debt and Security Agreement 



STATE OF GEORGIA 

CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE 

RESOLUTION 0-31-18 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “D” 

 

Agreement Regarding Environmental Activity 



STATE OF GEORGIA 

CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE 

RESOLUTION 0-31-18 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “E” 

 

The financial terms of the Installment Sale Agreement 

 

  



STATE OF GEORGIA 

CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE 

RESOLUTION 0-31-18 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “F” 

 

Legal description of Town Center Project and Preliminary Survey 

[Attached]



STATE OF GEORGIA 

CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE 

RESOLUTION 0-31-18 

 

 

CLERK’S CERTIFICATE 

 

 

The undersigned Clerk of the City, DOES HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing pages 

of typewritten matter pertaining to an Installment Sale Agreement constitute a true and correct 

copy of the Resolution adopted on May 30
th

, 2018, by the Mayor and Council in a specially 

called meeting, which was open to the public, and the original of said Resolution appears of 

record in the minute book of the Mayor and Council which is in my custody and control. 

 

WITNESS my hand and the official seal of the City of Fayetteville, Georgia this 30
th

 day 

of May, 2018. 

 

  

 

 

(SEAL) __________________________________ 

Anne Barksdale, City Clerk 

 

 

    
 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

After recording return to: 

Blake C. Sharpton 

Butler Snow LLP 

577 Mulberry Street, Suite 1225 

Macon, Georgia 31201 

(478) 238-1360 

 

 

INSTALLMENT SALE AGREEMENT 
 

 

Dated as of June ___, 2018 

 

 

 

between the 

 

GEORGIA MUNICIPAL ASSOCIATION, INC. 
 

as Seller 

 

and 

 

CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE, GEORGIA 
 

as Purchaser 

 

 

 

THE RIGHTS OF THE GEORGIA MUNICIPAL ASSOCIATION, INC. HEREUNDER (WITH 

CERTAIN LIMITED EXCEPTIONS) HAVE BEEN ASSIGNED TO BRANCH BANKING 

AND TRUST COMPANY    



 

i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 

ARTICLE I. DEFINITIONS AND EXHIBITS...............................................................................2 

Section 1.1. Definitions and Rules of Construction. ............................................................2 
Section 1.2. Exhibits. ...........................................................................................................6 

ARTICLE II. REPRESENTATIONS, COVENANTS AND WARRANTIES ...............................7 

Section 2.1. Representations, Covenants and Warranties of the City. .................................7 

ARTICLE III. SALE OF RECREATIONAL PROJECT ..............................................................11 

Section 3.1. Sale of the Recreational Project; Title. ..........................................................11 

Section 3.2. Warranties. .....................................................................................................11 

Section 3.3. Escrow Fund. .................................................................................................11 

ARTICLE IV. DEPOSIT TO THE ESCROW FUND; AGREEMENT TO ACQUIRE 

AND CONSTRUCT THE RECREATIONAL PROJECT; TERMINATION OF 

INSTALLMENT SALE AGREEMENT; INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS; 

APPROPRIATION ............................................................................................................14 

Section 4.1. Deposit to Escrow Fund. ................................................................................14 

Section 4.2. Acquisition and Construction of Recreational Project...................................14 
Section 4.3. Term of Installment Sale Agreement. ............................................................17 
Section 4.4. Installment Payments. ....................................................................................17 

Section 4.5. Accelerated Purchase Option. ........................................................................19 

Section 4.6. Covenant as to Appropriation. .......................................................................19 
Section 4.7. Termination of Installment Sale Agreement on Prepayment. ........................19 
Section 4.8. Tax Treatment of Installment Payments. .......................................................19 

ARTICLE V. MAINTENANCE; TAXES; INSURANCE; AND OTHER MATTERS ...............21 

Section 5.1. Maintenance, Utilities, Taxes and Assessments. ...........................................21 

Section 5.2. Insurance. .......................................................................................................22 

ARTICLE VI. DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES; CERTAIN PAYMENT 

OBLIGATIONS .................................................................................................................23 

Section 6.1. Disclaimer of Warranties. ..............................................................................23 
Section 6.2. City’s Right to Enforce Warranties................................................................23 

Section 6.3. Certain Payment Obligations. ........................................................................23 

ARTICLE VII. SUCCESSORS, ASSIGNMENT, PLEDGING, SALE AND 

AMENDMENT..................................................................................................................25 

Section 7.1. Assignment by the Originator. .......................................................................25 

Section 7.2. Assignment and Sublease by the City. ...........................................................25 

ARTICLE VIII. EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES .....................................................26 

Section 8.1. Events of Default Defined. ............................................................................26 
Section 8.2. Remedies on Default and Non-appropriation. ...............................................26 
Section 8.3. Non-appropriation. .........................................................................................28 



 

ii 

Section 8.4. No Remedy Exclusion. ..................................................................................28 
Section 8.5. Agreement to Pay Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses. ........................................28 
Section 8.6. No Additional Waiver Implied by One Waiver. ............................................29 

ARTICLE IX. MISCELLANEOUS ..............................................................................................30 

Section 9.1. Notices. ..........................................................................................................30 
Section 9.2. Binding Effect. ...............................................................................................31 
Section 9.3. Severability. ...................................................................................................31 
Section 9.4. Amendments, Changes and Modifications. ...................................................31 
Section 9.5. Further Assurances and Corrective Instruments. ...........................................31 

Section 9.6. Execution in Counterparts..............................................................................31 
Section 9.7. Applicable Law. .............................................................................................31 

Section 9.8. Waiver of Jury Trial. ......................................................................................31 
Section 9.9. Survival. .........................................................................................................31 
Section 9.10. Security Agreement. ....................................................................................32 

 

 

Exhibit A: Schedule 1:  Basic Terms 

 

Schedule 2:  Installment Payment Amounts 

 

Exhibit B: Description of Property 

 

Exhibit C: Description of Recreational Project Facilities 

 

Exhibit D: Certificate of Appropriation 

 

Exhibit E: Requisition 



 

1 

INSTALLMENT SALE AGREEMENT 

 

 

THIS INSTALLMENT SALE AGREEMENT (the “Installment Sale Agreement”), dated 

as of June ___, 2018, by and between GEORGIA MUNICIPAL ASSOCIATION, INC., a 

Georgia nonprofit corporation, as seller (the “Originator”), and the CITY OF 

FAYETTEVILLE, GEORGIA, a municipal corporation of the State of Georgia, as purchaser 

(the “City”). 

 

W I T N E S S E T H 

 

WHEREAS, the City is a municipal corporation of the State of Georgia, validly existing 

under the Constitution and laws of the State of Georgia; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City has the power, pursuant to the laws of the State of Georgia, 

including particularly Section 36-60-13 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated 

(“O.C.G.A.”), as amended, to enter into purchase or lease purchase contracts of all kinds for the 

acquisition and construction of goods, materials, real and personal property, services and 

supplies; and 

 

WHEREAS, as of the date hereof, the Originator has purchased certain real property 

located in the City, as more fully described in Exhibit B hereto, and buildings located thereon to 

serve as recreational facilities (the “Recreational Project”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the City agrees to purchase the Recreational Project from the Seller in 

accordance with this Installment Sale Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, the obligations of the City to make payments hereunder shall be payable 

only from funds lawfully appropriated by the City for such purpose and shall not constitute a 

pledge of the full faith and credit of the City within the meaning of any constitutional debt 

limitations; and 

 

WHEREAS, the taxing power of the City is not and may not be pledged in any way, 

directly, indirectly, or contingently, to secure any moneys due under this Installment Sale 

Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Originator and the City have duly authorized the execution and delivery 

of this Installment Sale Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, the term of this Installment Sale Agreement expires November 1, 2029 

subject to the City’s right to terminate this Installment Sale Agreement effective as of each 

December 31 during the term of this Installment Sale Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, at the request of the City, the Originator proposes to assign this Installment 

Sale Agreement to Branch Banking and Trust Company, a North Carolina banking corporation 

(the “Lender”); 



 

2 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the above premises and of the mutual 

covenants hereinafter contained and for other good and valuable consideration, the parties hereto 

agree as follows: 

 

ARTICLE I. 

 

DEFINITIONS AND EXHIBITS 

Section 1.1.  Definitions and Rules of Construction. 

Unless the context otherwise requires, the capitalized terms used herein shall, for all 

purposes of this Installment Sale Agreement, have the meanings specified herein.  Unless the 

context otherwise indicates, words importing the singular number shall include the plural number 

and vice versa.  The terms “hereby,” “hereof,” “hereto,” “herein,” “hereunder” and any similar 

terms, as used in this Installment Sale Agreement, refer to this Installment Sale Agreement as a 

whole. 

 

“Authorized City Representative” means that person at the time designated to act on 

behalf of the City by written certificate furnished to the Seller and the Lender containing the 

specimen signature of such person or persons and signed on behalf of the City by the Mayor. 

 

“Calendar Year” means the twelve-month period extending from January 1 to the next 

succeeding December 31. 

 

“City” means City of Fayetteville, Georgia, and its successors and assigns. 

 

“City Documents” means this Installment Sale Agreement and the Environmental 

Agreement. 

 

“Closing Date” means the date of the execution and delivery of this Installment Sale 

Agreement. 

 

“Completion Date” means that date determined in accordance with Section 4.2(g) of this 

Installment Sale Agreement. 

 

“Environmental Agreement” means the Agreement Regarding Environmental Activity of 

even date herewith by and among the City, the Originator and the Lender. 

 

“Escrow Agent” means ____________________, its successors and assigns. 

 

“Escrow Fund” means the fund created pursuant to Section 3.3(a) hereof. 

 

“Event of Non-appropriation” means a nonrenewal by the City of this Installment Sale 

Agreement for an Installment Sale Year for which this Installment Sale Agreement has not 

previously been renewed, determined by (i) the City’s failure, on or before the 20
th

 day before 

each Fiscal Year, to appropriate the Minimum Annual Appropriated Amount, or (ii) actual 



 

3 

written notice from the City to the Seller prior to the first business day of the next Calendar Year 

that the City will terminate this Installment Sale Agreement at the end of the current Calendar 

Year.  The Seller, in its sole discretion, may waive an Event of Non-appropriation upon request 

by the City. 

 

“Fiscal Year” means July 1 through June 30 of the following year, or such other fiscal 

year as the City may designate. 

 

“Georgia Brownfield Act” means Article 9 of Chapter 8 of Title 12 of the Official Code 

of Georgia Annotated. 

 

“Installment Payment” means a Principal Payment or an Interest Payment.  The principal 

component of and the interest component of the Installment Payments are described in Exhibit A 

Schedule 2 hereto. 

 

“Installment Sale Amount” means the amount as set forth in Exhibit A Schedule 1 

attached hereto and hereby incorporated herein, representing the amount advanced by the Seller 

for the financing of the Recreational Project. 

 

“Installment Sale Year” means a Calendar Year or portion thereof within the Term of this 

Installment Sale Agreement. 

 

“Interest Payment” means a payment required by Section 4.4(a)(ii) hereof, representing 

interest on the Installment Sale Amount. 

 

“Lender” means Branch Banking and Trust Company, a North Carolina banking 

corporation, and its successors and assigns. 

 

“Minimum Annual Appropriated Amount” means an amount equal to the sum of (i) the 

Principal Payments coming due in such Fiscal Year as set forth in this Installment Sale 

Agreement; (ii) the Interest Payments coming due in such Fiscal Year as set forth in this 

Installment Sale Agreement; and (iii) any amounts owing or expected to come due during the 

Fiscal Year pursuant to Section 5.1(c) hereof. 

 

“Originator” means Georgia Municipal Association, Inc. and its successors and assigns. 

 

“Originator Documents” means this Installment Sale Agreement, the Security Deed and 

the Transfer Agreement.  

 

“Permitted Encumbrances” means those exceptions to title described in Exhibit C to the 

Security Deed, which exceptions are acceptable to the Lender. 

 

“PPCAP” means the Prospective Purchaser Corrective Action Plan Fayette County Board 

of Education Bus Barn Site, 210 Stonewall Avenue West, Fayetteville, Fayette County, Georgia, 

PGC Project No.117423, Prepared for City of Fayetteville by Piedmont Geotechnical 



 

4 

Consultants, Inc., dated March 30, 2018, as approved by letter of the Georgia Department of 

Natural Resources Environmental Protection Division dated April 5, 2018. 

 

“Principal Payment” means a payment required by Section 4.4(a)(i) hereof, representing 

a scheduled principal payment of the Installment Sale Amount. 

 

“Property” means that real property more particularly described in Exhibit B hereto, and 

by this reference incorporated herein. 

 

“Purchase Price” means the unpaid Principal Payments and accrued Interest Payments as 

set forth in Exhibit A to this Installment Sale Agreement. 

 

“Qualified Investments” means the following: 

 

(i) Bonds or obligations of counties, municipal corporations, school districts, 

political subdivisions, authorities, or bodies of the State or other states; 

 

(ii) Bonds or other obligations of the United States or of subsidiary corporations 

of the United States Government which are fully guaranteed by such government; 

 

(iii) Obligations of and obligations guaranteed by agencies or instrumentalities of 

the United States Government, including those issued by the Federal Land Bank, Federal 

Home Loan Bank, Federal Intermediate Credit Bank, Bank for Cooperatives, and any 

other such agency or instrumentality now or hereafter in existence; provided, however, 

that all such obligations shall have a current credit rating from a nationally recognized 

rating service of at least one of the three highest rating categories available and have a 

nationally recognized market; 

 

(iv) Bonds or other obligations issued by any Public Housing Agency or 

Municipal Corporation in the United States, which such bonds or obligations are fully 

secured as to the payment of both principal and interest by a pledge of annual 

contributions under an annual contributions contract or contracts with the United States 

Government, or project notes issued by any public housing agency, urban renewal 

agency, or municipal corporation in the United States which are fully secured as to 

payment of both principal and interest by a requisition, loan, or payment agreement with 

the United States Government; 

 

(v) Certificates of deposit of national or state banks located within the state which 

have deposits insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and certificates of 

deposit of federal savings and loan associations and state building and loan associations 

located within this state which have deposits insured by the Savings Association 

Insurance Fund of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the Georgia Credit 

Union Deposit Insurance Corporation, including the certificates of deposit of any bank, 

savings and loan association, or building and loan association acting as depositary, 

custodian, or trustee for any such bond proceeds. The portion of such certificates of 

deposit in excess of the amount insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, 



 

5 

the Savings Association Insurance Fund of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or 

the Georgia Credit Union Deposit Insurance Corporation, if any, shall be secured by 

deposit, with the Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta, Georgia, or with any national or state 

bank or federal savings and loan association or state building and loan or savings and 

loan association located within the State or with a trust office within the State, of one or 

more the following securities in an aggregate principal amount equal at least to the 

amount of such excess; direct and general obligations of the State or other states or of any 

county or municipal corporation in this state, obligations of the United States or 

subsidiary corporations included in paragraph (ii) hereof, obligations of the agencies and 

instrumentalities of the United States Government included in paragraph (iii) hereof, or 

bonds, obligations, or project notes of public housing agencies, urban renewal agencies, 

or municipalities included in paragraph (iv) hereof; 

 

(vi) Securities of or other interests in any no-load, open-end management type 

investment company or investment trust registered under the Investment Company Act of 

1940, as from time to time amended, or any common trust fund maintained by any bank 

or trust company which holds such proceeds as trustee or by an affiliate thereof so long 

as: 

 

 (a)  the portfolio of such investment company or investment trust or 

common trust fund is limited to the obligations referenced in paragraphs (ii) and (iii) 

hereof and repurchase agreements fully collateralized by any such obligations; 

 

 (b)  such investment company or investment trust or common trust 

fund takes delivery of such collateral either directly or through an authorized custodian; 

 

 (c)  such investment company or investment trust or common trust 

fund is managed so as to maintain its shares at a constant net asset value; and (d) 

securities of or other interests in such investment company or investment trust or 

common trust fund are purchased and redeemed only through the use of national or state 

banks having corporate trust powers and located within the State; 

 

(vii) Interest-bearing time deposits, repurchase agreements, reverse repurchase 

agreements, rate guarantee agreements, or other similar banking arrangements with a 

bank or trust company having capital and surplus aggregating at least $50 million or with 

any government bond dealer reporting to, trading with, and recognized as a primary 

dealer by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York having capital aggregating at least $50 

million or with any corporation which is subject to registration with the Board of 

Governors of the Federal Reserve System pursuant to the requirements of the Bank 

Holding Company Act of 1956, provided that each such interest-bearing time deposit, 

repurchase agreement, reverse repurchase agreement, rate guarantee agreement, or other 

similar banking arrangement shall permit the moneys so placed to be available for use at 

the time provided with respect to the investment or reinvestment of such moneys; and  

 

(viii) the local government investment pool created in Chapter 83 of Title 36 of 

the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, as amended; 



 

6 

 

(ix)  any other investments authorized by the laws of the State of Georgia. 

 

“Recreational Project” means the Recreational Project Facilities and the Property. 

  

“Recreational Project Facilities” means those facilities described in Exhibit C hereto, and 

by this reference incorporated herein.   

  

“Security Deed” means the Deed to Secure Debt and Security Agreement of even date 

herewith with respect to the Recreational Project made by the Originator in favor of the Lender. 

 

“Seller” means the Originator and its successors and assigns, including after the Closing 

Date, the Lender. 

 

“State” means the State of Georgia. 

 

“Term” shall have the meaning specified in Section 4.3 hereof. 

 

“Transfer Agreement” means that certain Assignment and Transfer Agreement of even 

date herewith to be executed by the Originator and the Lender pursuant to which certain interests 

of the Originator in this Installment Sale Agreement shall be transferred to the Lender. 

 

Section 1.2.  Exhibits. 

The following Exhibits are attached to, and by reference made a part of, this Installment 

Sale Agreement: 

 

Exhibit A: Schedule 1:  Basic Terms 

 

Schedule 2:  Installment Payment Amounts 

 

Exhibit B: Description of Property 

 

Exhibit C: Description of Recreational Project Facilities 

 

Exhibit D: Certificate of Appropriation 

 

Exhibit E: Requisition 

 

 

 

[End of Article I] 



 

7 

ARTICLE II. 

 

REPRESENTATIONS, COVENANTS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.1.  Representations, Covenants and Warranties of the City. 

The City represents, covenants and warrants to the Seller as follows: 

 

(a) Due Organization and Existence.  The City is a municipal corporation of the 

State, duly organized and existing under the Constitution and laws of the State and will do or 

cause to be done all things necessary to preserve and keep in full force and effect its existence as 

such. 

 

(b) No Violations.  Neither the execution and delivery of the City Documents and 

each of the other documents entered into by City in connection herewith, nor the fulfillment of or 

compliance with the terms and conditions hereof or thereof, nor the consummation of the 

transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, conflicts with or results in a breach of the terms, 

conditions or provisions of any restriction or any agreement or instrument to which the City is 

now a party or by which the City is bound, or constitutes a default under any of the foregoing, or, 

except as provided in the City Documents, results in the creation or imposition of any lien, 

charge or encumbrance whatsoever upon any of the property or assets of the City, or upon the 

Recreational Project.  The City is not in default under any indenture, loan agreement, mortgage, 

deed of trust or similar document relating to the borrowing of moneys or any other material 

contract, lease, or commitment to which it is a party or by which it is bound. 

 

(c) Execution and Delivery.  The City has duly authorized and executed the City 

Documents in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State.   

 

(d) No Litigation.  There are no actions, suits, proceedings, inquiries or 

investigations, at law or in equity, before or by any court, public board or body pending or 

threatened against or affecting the City, which singly or in the aggregate, if adversely 

determined, would adversely affect the validity or enforceability of the City Documents or any of 

the other related agreements or would adversely affect the City’s ability to satisfy its obligations 

hereunder or thereunder in a timely manner. 

 

(e) Compliance with Laws and Regulations.  The execution and delivery by the City 

of the City Documents, all of the other related agreements and the performance of the City’s 

obligations hereunder and thereunder are not in contravention of any laws, orders, regulations or 

ordinances.  The City is in compliance with all laws, orders, regulations and ordinances of all 

federal and state authorities, the failure to comply with would have a material adverse effect on 

the enforceability of the City Documents or its ability to satisfy its obligation hereunder or 

thereunder in a timely manner. 

 

(f) Tax Covenants.  This Installment Sale Agreement is being entered into by the 

City in compliance with the conditions necessary for the Interest Payments payable by the City 

to be excluded from the gross income of the Seller for federal income tax purposes pursuant to 

the provisions of Section 103(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) 



 

8 

relating to obligations of the State or political subdivisions thereof.  It is the intention of the City 

that the Interest Payments be and remain excluded from gross income for federal income tax 

purposes, and, to that end, the City hereby covenants as follows: 

 

(i) It will not take any action, or fail to take any action, if any such action or 

failure to take action would adversely affect the exclusion of the Interest Payments from 

income under Section 103 of the Code. 

 

(ii) It will not directly or indirectly take or omit to take any action in a way 

that would cause this Installment Sale Agreement to be a “private activity bond” within 

the meaning of Section 141 of the Code. 

 

(iii) It will not directly or indirectly use or permit the use of the Installment 

Sale Amount, or any other funds of the City or take or omit to take any action that would 

cause this Installment Sale Agreement to be an “arbitrage bond” within the meaning of 

Section 148 of the Code.  To that end, the City will comply with all requirements of 

Section 148 of the Code, including without limitation Section 148(f) thereof, to the extent 

applicable to this Installment Sale Agreement. 

 

(iv) This Installment Sale Agreement is not and shall not be “federally 

guaranteed” as defined in Section 149(b) of the Code. 

 

(v) The City does hereby designate this Installment Sale Agreement as a 

“qualified tax-exempt obligation” within the meaning of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code.  

The City hereby represents, covenants and warrants to the Seller that the aggregate face 

amount of all tax-exempt obligations (other than private activity bonds as defined in 

Section 141 of the Code) issued by the City and any entities with whom aggregation is 

required pursuant to Section 265(b)(3)(E) of the Code during the calendar year in which 

this Installment Sale Agreement is entered into is not reasonably expected to exceed 

$10,000,000.  In the event this Installment Sale Agreement is determined not to be a 

“qualified tax-exempt obligation” within the meaning of Section 265(b) of the Code, the 

City agrees that the Interest Payments shall be adjusted as reasonably determined by the 

Lender as necessary to compensate the Lender for any change in its “Allowable 

Deduction Percentage.” The “Allowable Deduction Percentage” shall mean the 

percentage of interest paid on indebtedness incurred or continued (or deemed for federal 

income tax purposes to have been incurred or continued) to purchase or carry investments 

the earnings or interest on which investments is excludable from income from time to 

time by a financial institution for federal income tax purposes.   

 

(g) Due Authorization. The City has duly authorized and approved all of the terms 

and conditions of the Transfer Agreement and the Security Deed. 

 

(h) Reporting Requirements.  The City will cause the following documents or 

information to be delivered to the Seller and the Lender: 

 



 

9 

(i) immediately upon becoming aware thereof, notice of the occurrence of 

any Event of Default specified in Section 8.1 hereof; and 

 

(ii) within thirty (30) days of its adoption of its annual budget, which shall be 

in conformity with Georgia law, and in any event on or before the twentieth (20
th

) day 

before each Fiscal Year, a copy of such budget and a certificate of the City certifying that 

the Minimum Annual Appropriated Amount has been appropriated for the Fiscal Year; 

and 

 

(iii) within 270 days of each Fiscal Year end, commencing with Fiscal Year 

2018, the audited financial statements of the City, which audit shall be conducted by an 

accountant (or a firm thereof) acceptable to the Lender; and 

 

(iv) such other information as the Lender shall reasonably request. 

 

(j) No Pecuniary Interest.  No employee of the City has any direct or indirect 

pecuniary interest in, or will receive or has agreed to receive any compensation with respect to, 

any contract, lease, purchase, sale, or employment made or to be made in connection with the 

proposed transaction contemplated by the performance of this Installment Sale Agreement. 

 

(k) Bidding Requirements.  All requirements have been, or will be, met and 

procedures have occurred, or will occur, in order to ensure the enforceability of this Installment 

Sale Agreement, and the City has complied or will comply with such public bidding 

requirements as may be applicable to this Installment Sale Agreement and the acquisition and 

construction by the City (in its capacity as agent for the Seller) of the Recreational Project. 

 

(l) Government Use.  During the term hereof, the Recreational Project will be used 

for the purpose of performing one or more essential governmental or proprietary functions of the 

City, consistent with the permissible scope of the City’s authority. 

 

(m) Party Walls.  The Recreational Project Facilities are either separate or completely 

severable from any existing buildings or other improvements to real property owned by the City, 

with the result that the Recreational Project Facilities would be marketable independent from any 

other real or personal property. 

 

(n) Compliance with Georgia Brownfield Act.  The City will comply with terms and 

conditions of the approved PPCAP and the Georgia Brownfield Act, including any regulations 

promulgated thereunder, concerning the closure/remediation of any underground storage tanks or 

contamination from discharge of petroleum based products by the prior occupants of the 

Recreational Project. 

 

(o) Environmental Condition of Recreational Project.  The City hereby represents and 

warrants to the Lender and the Originator, and each of their successors and assigns, that to the 

best of its knowledge except as described below:  (i) the Recreational Project is now or upon 

disbursement of any funds from the Escrow Fund of the City for the acquisition thereof will be, 

and will continue to be in full compliance in all material respects with all federal, state and local 



 

10 

environmental laws and regulations, including, but not limited to, the Comprehensive 

Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 (“CERCLA”), Public Law 

No. 96510, 94 Stat. 2767, 42 USC 9601 et seq., and the Superfund Amendments and 

Reauthorization Act of 1986 (“SARA”), Public Law No. 99-499, 100 Stat. 1613, and (ii)(A) as 

of the date hereof or the date of said disbursement, there were no hazardous materials, 

substances, wastes or other environmentally regulated substances (including, without limitation, 

any materials containing asbestos) located on, in or under the Recreational Project or used in 

connection therewith, except as fully disclosed to the Lender in writing, or (B) the City has fully 

disclosed to the Lender in writing the existence, extent and nature of any such hazardous 

materials, substances, wastes or other environmentally regulated substances, which the City is 

legally authorized and empowered to maintain on, in or under the Recreational Project or use in 

connection therewith, and the City has obtained or will obtain, and will maintain, all material 

licenses, permits and approvals required with respect thereto, and is in all material respects in 

full compliance with all of the terms, conditions and requirements of such licenses, permits and 

approvals. 

 

The City further warrants and represents that it will promptly notify the Lender and the 

Originator of any change in the nature or extent of any hazardous materials, substances or wastes 

maintained on, in or under the Recreational Project or used in connection therewith, and will 

transmit to the Lender and the Originator copies of any citations, orders, notices or other material 

governmental or other communication received with respect to any other hazardous materials, 

substances, wastes or other environmentally regulated substances affecting the Recreational 

Project. 

 

(p) Obligations Under Security Deed.  The City hereby covenants and agrees to 

perform and discharge each obligation that the Originator has agreed to cause the City to perform 

or discharge in the Security Deed. 

 

(q) Compliance with O.C.G.A. Section 36-60-13.  The principal amount of all 

contracts executed pursuant to O.C.G.A. Section 36-60-13 (the “Act”), when added to the 

amount of debt incurred by the City pursuant to Article IX, Section V, Paragraph I of the 

Constitution of the State of Georgia, does not exceed 10% of the assessed value of all taxable 

property within the City.  The property being financed pursuant to this Installment Sale 

Agreement has not been the subject of a referendum which failed to receive the approval of the 

voters of the City within the immediately preceding four calendar years.  A public hearing has 

been held by the City regarding the Recreational Project and the financing thereof pursuant to 

this Installment Sale Agreement.  A notice of the public hearing was published once a week for 

two weeks prior to the hearing in a newspaper of general circulation within the City.  The 

average annual payments on the aggregate of all contracts executed pursuant to the Act with 

respect to real property do not exceed 7.5% of the governmental fund revenues of the City for the 

calendar year preceding the delivery of this Installment Sale Agreement.  The outstanding 

principal balance on the aggregate of all contracts executed pursuant to the Act with respect to 

real property does not exceed $25,000,000. 

 



 

11 

Section 2.2.   Representations, Covenants and Warranties of the Originator. 

The Originator represents, covenants and warrants to the City as follows: 

 

(a) Due Organization and Existence.  The Originator is a duly created nonprofit 

corporation of the State and will do or cause to be done all things necessary to preserve and keep 

in full force and effect its existence as such. 

 

(b) No Violations.  Neither the execution and delivery of the Originator Documents 

and each of the other documents entered into by the Originator in connection herewith, nor the 

fulfillment of or compliance with the terms and conditions hereof or thereof, nor the 

consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, conflicts with or results in a 

breach of the terms, conditions or provisions of any restriction or any agreement or instrument to 

which the Originator is now a party or by which the Originator is bound, or constitutes a default 

under any of the foregoing, or, except as provided in the Originator Documents, results in the 

creation or imposition of any lien, charge or encumbrance whatsoever upon any of the property 

or assets of the Originator, or upon the Project.  The Originator is not in default under any 

indenture, loan agreement, mortgage, deed of trust or similar document relating to the borrowing 

of moneys or any other material contract, lease, or commitment to which it is a party or by which 

it is bound. 

 

(c) Execution and Delivery.  The Originator has duly authorized and executed the 

Originator Documents in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State. 

 

(d) No Litigation.  There are no actions, suits, proceedings, inquiries or 

investigations, at law or in equity, before or by any court, public board or body pending or 

threatened against or affecting the Originator, which singly or in the aggregate, if adversely 

determined, would adversely affect the validity or enforceability of the Originator Documents or 

any of the other related agreements or would adversely affect the Originator’s ability to satisfy 

its obligations hereunder or thereunder in a timely manner. 

 

(e) Compliance with Laws and Regulations.  The execution and delivery by the 

Originator of the Originator Documents, all of the other related agreements and the performance 

of the Originator’s obligations hereunder and thereunder are not in contravention of any laws, 

orders, regulations or ordinances.  The Originator is in compliance with all laws, orders, 

regulations and ordinances of all federal and state authorities, the failure to comply with would 

have a material adverse effect on the enforceability of the Originator Documents or its ability to 

satisfy its obligation hereunder or thereunder in a timely manner. 

 

(f) Title.  The Originator has fee simple title to the Project. 

 

 

[End of Article II] 



 

12 

ARTICLE III. 

 

SALE OF RECREATIONAL PROJECT 

Section 3.1.  Sale of the Recreational Project; Title. 

In consideration of the representations and undertakings of the City in this Installment 

Sale Agreement, the Seller hereby agrees to sell to the City, and the City hereby agrees to 

purchase from the Seller, in accordance with the provisions of this Installment Sale Agreement, 

all the Seller’s right, title and interest in and to the Recreational Project, and each and every 

component thereof, as the same may be affected by Permitted Encumbrances; provided, 

however, that the title to the Recreational Project and every component thereof shall be 

subordinate and subject to the prior lien and encumbrance of the Security Deed until all 

Installment Payments hereunder, or the Purchase Price, shall have been paid in full, together with 

all other obligations arising hereunder and any other amounts secured by the Security Deed 

(“Payment in Full”).  Until Payment in Full shall occur, title to the Recreational Project shall 

remain in the Seller. If an Event of Default or an Event of Non-appropriation with respect to this 

Installment Sale Agreement occurs, the City will then (or, in the case of an Event of Non-

appropriation, on the date through which City has paid, or appropriated moneys sufficient to pay 

the applicable Installment Payments) surrender peaceably possession of the Recreational Project 

to the Seller in good condition and repair, normal wear and tear excepted.  The Seller will have 

all legal and equitable rights and remedies to enforce its rights, including but not limited to, the 

right to take possession of the Recreational Project, and to sell or relet same.  On request, the 

City shall execute and deliver to Seller such instruments as necessary or desirable to vest or 

confirm in the Seller or its assignee all right, title and interest of City in the Recreational Project.  

After Payment in Full, the Seller shall transfer the Recreational Project to the City by limited 

warranty deed and bill of sale.  After Payment in Full, upon the request of the City, the Seller 

will cancel or cause to be cancelled of record the Security Deed.  The City agrees that it will pay 

all expenses and taxes, if any, applicable to or arising from any transfer of title as herein 

provided.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, this Installment Sale Agreement, 

said limited warranty deed and the rights of the City hereunder and thereunder are expressly 

made subject and subordinate to the prior lien and encumbrance of the Security Deed. 

 

Section 3.2.  Warranties. 

THE SELLER MAKES NO WARRANTY, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AND 

HEREBY EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ANY WARRANTY, AS TO THE CONDITION OF 

THE RECREATIONAL PROJECT OR THAT IT WILL BE SUITABLE FOR THE CITY’S 

PURPOSES OR NEEDS. 

 

Section 3.3.  Escrow Fund. 

(a) There is hereby created a special segregated account to be known as the “City of 

Fayetteville, Georgia 2018 Installment Sale Agreement Escrow Fund” (the “Escrow Fund”).  

[The Lender is hereby designated as the custodian of the Escrow Fund.  The City shall deposit 

the Installment Sale Amount into the Escrow Fund.]  The moneys and securities on deposit in the 



 

13 

Escrow Fund shall be held separate and apart from all other funds of the City and the Lender and 

will be held in trust by the Escrow Agent. 

 

(b) the Escrow Agent shall invest and reinvest moneys on deposit in the Escrow Fund 

in Qualified Investments in accordance with written instructions received from the City.  The 

City shall be solely responsible for ascertaining that all proposed investments and reinvestments 

are Qualified Investments and that they comply with federal, state and local laws, regulations and 

ordinances governing investment of such funds and for providing appropriate notice to the 

Escrow Agent for the reinvestment of any maturing investment.  Accordingly, the Escrow Agent 

shall not be responsible for any liability, cost, expense, loss or claim of any kind, directly or 

indirectly arising out of or related to the investment or reinvestment of all or any portion of the 

moneys on deposit in the Escrow Fund, and the City agrees to and does hereby release the 

Escrow Agent, the Originator and the Lender from any such liability, cost, expenses, loss or 

claim.  Interest on the Escrow Fund shall become part of the Escrow Fund, and gains and losses 

on the investment of the moneys on deposit in the Escrow Fund shall be borne by the Escrow 

Fund. 

 

(c) Unless the Escrow Fund is earlier terminated in accordance with the provisions of 

paragraph (d) below, amounts in the Escrow Fund shall be disbursed by the Escrow Agent in 

payment of amounts described in Section 4.2(b) hereof upon receipt of written authorization(s) 

from the Seller, as is more fully described in Section 4.2 hereof.  If the amounts in the Escrow 

Fund are insufficient to pay such amounts, the City shall provide any balance of the funds 

needed to complete the acquisition, construction and installation of the Recreational Project.  

Any moneys remaining in the Escrow Fund after the Completion Date shall be applied to the 

payment of the next subsequent Installment Payment or Installment Payments until any such 

moneys are depleted. 

 

(d) The Escrow Fund shall be terminated at the earliest of:  (i) the final distribution of 

amounts in the Escrow Fund; (ii) written notice given by the Seller of the occurrence of an Event 

of Default or an Event of Non-appropriation by the City under this Installment Sale Agreement is 

received by the Escrow Agent; or (iii) the termination of this Installment Sale Agreement.  Upon 

an Event of Default or an Event of Non-appropriation, the moneys on deposit in the Escrow 

Fund shall, at the option of the Lender, be applied to (i) the Principal Payments or (ii) the 

Recreational Project. 

 

(e) The Escrow Agent may act in reliance upon any writing or instrument or 

signature which it, in good faith, believes to be genuine and may assume the validity and 

accuracy of any statement or assertion contained in such a writing or instrument. The Escrow 

Agent shall not be liable in any manner for the sufficiency or correctness as to form, manner of 

execution, or validity of any instrument nor as to the identity, authority, or right of any person 

executing the same; and its duties hereunder shall be limited to the receipt of such moneys, 

instruments or other documents received by it as the Escrow Agent, and for the disposition of the 

same in accordance herewith. 

 

(f) Unless the Escrow Agent is guilty of gross negligence or willful misconduct with 

regard to its duties hereunder, the City agrees to and does hereby release and indemnify the 



 

14 

Escrow Agent and hold it harmless from any and all claims, liabilities, losses, actions, suits or 

proceedings at law or in equity, or any other expense, fees or charges of any character or nature, 

which it may incur or with which it may be threatened by reason of its acting as Escrow Agent 

under this Installment Sale Agreement; and in connection therewith, does indemnify the Escrow 

Agent against any and all expenses; including reasonable attorneys’ fees and the cost of 

defending any action, suit or proceeding or resisting any claim.  The Escrow Agent shall be 

vested with a lien on and is hereby granted a security interest in all property deposited hereunder, 

for indemnification, for reasonable attorneys’ fees, court costs, for any suit, interpleader or 

otherwise, or any other expense, fees or charges of any character or nature, which may be 

incurred by the Escrow Agent by reason of disputes arising between the City and the Seller as to 

the correct interpretation of this Installment Sale Agreement and instructions given to the Escrow 

Agent hereunder, or otherwise, with the right of Escrow Agent, regardless of the instructions 

aforesaid, to hold the said property until and unless said additional expenses, fees and charges 

shall be fully paid. 

 

(g) If the City and the Seller shall be in disagreement about the interpretation of this 

Installment Sale Agreement, or about the rights and obligations, or the propriety of any action 

contemplated by the Escrow Agent hereunder, the Escrow Agent may, but shall not be required 

to, file an appropriate civil action to resolve the disagreement.  The Escrow Agent shall be 

reimbursed by the City for all costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, in connection with 

such civil action, and shall be fully protected in suspending all or part of its activities under this 

Installment Sale Agreement until a final judgment in such action is received. 

 

(h) The Escrow Agent may consult with counsel of its own choice and shall have full 

and complete authorization and protection with the opinion of such counsel.  The Escrow Agent 

shall otherwise not be liable for any mistakes of fact or errors of judgment, or for any acts or 

omissions of any kind unless caused by its willful misconduct. 

 

(i) [Intentionally omitted.] 

 

(j) If an amount shall be held in the Escrow Fund from and after the third anniversary 

of the Closing Date, the City shall direct the Escrow Agent to invest such amount only in 

(i) obligations described in Section 103 of the Code (excluding “private activity bonds,” as 

defined in Section 141 of the Code) or (ii) securities for which there is an established market, 

including U.S. Treasury Obligations, State and Local Government Series and for which market 

price is paid, such securities to have a yield not in excess of the yield on this Installment Sale 

Agreement, unless the City receives an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that investment at 

a higher rate will not cause this Installment Sale Agreement to become an “arbitrage bond” 

within the meaning of Section 148 of the Code and will not otherwise adversely affect the 

exclusion of Interest Payments on this Installment Sale Agreement from gross income for federal 

income tax purposes. 

 

(k) So long as no Event of Non-appropriation or Event of Default occurs hereunder, 

moneys on deposit in the City’s Escrow Fund shall be subject to the interest of the Escrow Agent 

described in paragraph (f) above, and then to the beneficial interest of the City as provided 

herein. 



 

15 

 

[End of Article III] 

ARTICLE IV. 

 

DEPOSIT TO THE ESCROW FUND; 

AGREEMENT TO ACQUIRE AND CONSTRUCT THE RECREATIONAL PROJECT; 

TERMINATION OF INSTALLMENT SALE AGREEMENT; 

INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS; APPROPRIATION 

Section 4.1.  Deposit to Escrow Fund. 

The Originator will transfer this Installment Sale Agreement to the Lender pursuant to the 

Transfer Agreement upon payment of the Installment Sale Amount, and will cause the 

Installment Sale Amount to be deposited in the Escrow Fund.  Upon satisfaction of the 

requirements of Sections 4.2(c) and (f) hereof, the Escrow Agent will apply the amounts in the 

Escrow Fund for costs related to the Recreational Project.  The City agrees to pay any such costs 

of the Recreational Project and costs of issuance in excess of amounts available therefor in the 

Escrow Fund.  Neither the Lender nor the Originator have any obligation for any costs and 

expenses incurred by the City with respect to the Recreational Project or the financing thereof.  

 

Section 4.2.  Acquisition and Construction of Recreational Project. 

(a) Acquisition and Construction Contracts.  The Originator hereby appoints the City 

as its agent for purposes of acquiring, constructing, and installing the Recreational Project.  Such 

appointment is irrevocable and is coupled with an interest.  The City will arrange for, supervise 

and provide for, or cause to be supervised and provided for, the acquisition, construction, and 

installation of the Recreational Project, with moneys available in the Escrow Fund.  The City 

represents the estimated costs of the Recreational Project are within the funds estimated to be 

available therefor, and the Seller makes no warranty or representation with respect thereto.  Prior 

to a disbursement from the Escrow Fund, there shall be filed with the Escrow Agent a requisition 

containing the information specified in Section 4.2(c).  Neither the Originator, the Escrow Agent 

nor the Lender shall be liable under any of the acquisition or construction contracts, if applicable.  

The City shall obtain all necessary permits and approvals, if any, for the acquisition, 

construction, and installation of the Recreational Project, and the operation and maintenance 

thereof, which may hereafter become applicable to the Recreational Project. 

 

(b) Authorized Escrow Fund Disbursements.  Disbursements from the Escrow Fund 

may be made for the purpose of paying (said term to include the reimbursement of the City for 

advances from its other funds to accomplish the purposes hereinafter described) the cost of 

acquiring, constructing, and installing the Recreational Project, including the purchase of the 

Property, and shall also include: 

 

(i) the cost of indemnity and fidelity bonds to insure the faithful completion 

of any construction contract pertaining to the Recreational Project; 

 



 

16 

(ii) fees and expenses of architects for the preparation of plans and 

supervising the acquisition, construction, and installation of the Recreational Project, if 

applicable; 

 

(iii) all payments, including those for labor, contractors, builders and 

materialmen, incurred under the terms of a construction contract for the acquisition, 

construction, and installation of the Recreational Project; 

 

(iv) all costs of engineering and architectural services, including the costs of 

the City incurred in connection with test borings and environmental assessments, if any, 

surveys, estimates, plans and specifications and preliminary investigations therefor, and 

for supervising construction, as well as for the performance of all other duties required by 

or consequent to the proper construction of the Recreational Project, if applicable; and 

 

(v) costs of issuance associated with this Installment Sale Agreement. 

 

(c) Requisition Procedure.  No disbursement from the Escrow Fund shall be made 

unless and until the Seller has approved such requisition.  Prior to disbursement from the Escrow 

Fund there shall be filed with the Escrow Agent a requisition for such payment stating each 

amount to be paid and the name of the person, firm or corporation to whom payment thereof is 

due in the form of Exhibit E hereto.  Each such requisition submitted by the City shall include 

copies of bills, invoices or other documents supporting the payments requested and shall be 

signed by an Authorized City Representative and approved by the Lender and shall contain a 

certificate of the City to the effect that: 

 

(i) insofar as such obligation was incurred for work, material, supplies or 

equipment in connection with the Recreational Project Facilities, such work was actually 

performed, or such material, supplies or equipment was actually installed in or about the 

Recreational Project Facilities or delivered at the site of the work for that purpose; 

 

(ii) an obligation in the stated amount has been incurred by the City, and that 

the same is a proper charge against the Escrow Fund and has not been paid, and stating 

that the bill, invoice or statement of account for such obligation, or a copy thereof, is on 

file with the City; 

 

(iii) the Authorized City Representative has no notice of any vendor’s, 

mechanic’s or other liens or rights to liens, chattel mortgages, conditional sales contracts 

or security interests which should be satisfied or discharged before such payment is 

made; 

 

(iv) such requisition contains no item representing payment on account, or any 

retained percentages which the City is, at the date of such certificate, entitled to retain; 

and 

 

(v) the Recreational Project is insured in accordance with the Installment Sale 

Agreement. 



 

17 

 

(d) [Intentionally omitted.] 

 

(e) [Intentionally omitted.] 

 

(f) Right of Entry and Inspection.  The Lender and its representatives and agents 

shall have the right to enter upon the Property and inspect the Recreational Project and the 

improvements thereto from time to time, and the City will cause any contractor or 

sub-contractor, if any, to cooperate with the Lender and its representatives and agents during 

such inspections.  No right of inspection or approval contained herein shall be deemed to impose 

upon the Lender any duty or obligation whatsoever to undertake any inspection or to make any 

approval.  No inspection made or approval given by the Lender shall be deemed to impose upon 

the Lender any duty or obligation whatsoever to identify or correct any defects in the 

improvements or to notify any person with respect thereto, and no liability shall be imposed upon 

the Lender, and no warranties (either express or implied) are made by the Lender as to the 

quality or fitness of any improvement, any such inspection and approval being made solely for 

the benefit of the Lender. 

 

(g) Completion of Recreational Project.  The City shall use its best efforts to cause 

the acquisition, construction, and installation of the Recreational Project to be completed without 

undue delay, unforeseeable delays beyond the reasonable control of the City only excepted.  

Upon completion of the acquisition, construction, and installation of the Recreational Project, the 

City shall deliver to the Lender, (a) a certificate of the City stating the fact and date of such 

completion and stating that all of the costs of said acquisition, construction, and installation have 

been determined and paid (or that all of such costs have been paid less specified claims which 

are subject to dispute and for which a retention in the Escrow Fund is to be maintained in the full 

amount of such claims until such dispute is resolved), (b) a certificate of a duly authorized 

officer or agent of the architects, engineers or supervising contractors selected and hired by the 

City in connection with the construction of the Recreational Project stating the fact and date of 

completion, (c) a copy of the certificate(s) of occupancy, if applicable (d) an as-built survey, if 

applicable, and (e) proof of insurance coverage with respect to the Recreational Project required 

by this Installment Sale Agreement. 

 

(h) Payment and Performance Bonds.  Each contractor entering into a contract for the 

construction of the Recreational Project shall be required to furnish a performance bond and a 

labor and material payment bond as required by O.C.G.A. Section 36-91-1 et seq., as amended, 

or other applicable provisions of law, copies of which shall be provided to the Seller and the 

Escrow Agent.  In the event of any material default by a contractor under any construction 

contract or in the event of a material breach of warranty with respect to any materials, 

workmanship or performance, the City shall promptly proceed, either separately or in 

conjunction with others, to pursue diligently its remedies against such contractor and/or against 

each surety of any bond securing the performance of such construction contract.  The net 

proceeds of any amounts recovered by way of damages, refunds, adjustments or otherwise in 

connection with the foregoing, remaining after deduction of expenses incurred in such recovery 

(including, without limitation, attorney’s fees and costs), and after reimbursement to the City of 

any amounts theretofore paid by the Lender and not previously reimbursed to the City for 



 

18 

correcting or remedying the default or breach of warranty which gave rise to the proceedings 

against the contractor or surety, shall be paid to the Escrow Agent for deposit into the Escrow 

Fund and (i) used as agreed by the City and the Seller to remedy any damage, omission, or 

defect, or (ii) if the City and the Seller agree that no such remedial work is required, used as 

provided in Section 4.4(a)(i) hereof.  

 

(i) Conditions to Disbursement.  Without limitation of the other conditions described 

herein, the Seller shall not be obligated to authorize any requisition of amounts from the Escrow 

Fund until it has been provided with and approved (if appropriate) (A) the environmental reports, 

(B) a survey of the Recreational Project certified to the Seller, (C) a file stamped copy of the 

Security Deed, (D) a mortgagee title insurance policy with respect to the Security Deed, (E) 

evidence that the insurance required by Section 5.2 hereof has been obtained, (F) adequate 

assurances that there have been deposited in the Escrow Fund sufficient monies to complete the 

Recreational Project, (G) an independent flood certification, and (H) any other documents that 

the Seller may reasonably request, each in form and substance satisfactory to the Seller and its 

counsel.  No disbursement from amounts from the Escrow Fund alone shall serve to alter these 

conditions. 

Section 4.3.  Term of Installment Sale Agreement. 

The Term of this Installment Sale Agreement shall commence on the date hereof and 

shall end on November 1, 2029, subject to the City’s right to terminate this Installment Sale 

Agreement.  This Installment Sale Agreement shall renew automatically from year to year until 

there occurs an Event of Default or Event of Non-appropriation.  This Installment Sale 

Agreement may be terminated only in accordance with the following paragraph.  

The Term of this Installment Sale Agreement will terminate upon the earliest of any one 

of the following events: 

(i) Purchase Option.  Upon the exercise by the City of its option to prepay the 

Purchase Price of the entire Recreational Project as provided in Section 4.5 and to 

terminate the Installment Sale Agreement pursuant to Section 4.8, and the payment of the 

Purchase Price and any other amounts owing hereunder. 

 

(ii) Payment in Full.  Payment in full of the Installment Payments on 

November 1, 2029. 

 

(iii) By City’s Election to Terminate the Installment Sale Agreement Upon 

Non-appropriation.  The occurrence of an Event of Non-appropriation. 

 

The parties intend that this Section 4.3 operate in conformity with, and not in 

contravention of, O.C.G.A. Section 36-60-13, as amended.  In the event that any provision of this 

Section 4.3 is determined to conflict with O.C.G.A. Section 36-60-13, as amended, this Section 

4.3 shall be interpreted and implemented in a manner consistent with said statute. 

 

Section 4.4.  Installment Payments. 



 

19 

(a) Obligation to Pay. Certain payments due hereunder shall be made as follows: 

 

(i) Principal Payments.  Principal Payments specified in Exhibit A Schedule 2 

hereto shall be paid by the City on each date specified therein during the term of this 

Installment Sale Agreement to the Lender. 

 

(ii) Interest Payments.  Interest Payments specified in Exhibit A Schedule 2 

hereto shall be paid by the City on each date specified therein during the term of this 

Installment Sale Agreement to the Lender. 

 

 If an Installment Payment date is not a business day, the foregoing payments shall 

be made on the next succeeding business day; provided, however, interest shall continue to 

accrue on the Principal Payments until the Installment Payments are actually received by the 

Lender.  Notwithstanding Exhibit A Schedule 2, the last Payment shall be in the amount needed 

to pay all Principal Payments and Interest Payments due hereunder.  All payments shall be made 

in immediately available funds by check or wire transfer in accordance with written directions 

provided by the Lender. 

 

(b) Unconditional Obligation.  The obligations of the City to make the payments 

required in Section 4.4(a) hereof or otherwise due hereunder and to perform and observe the 

other agreements on its part contained herein shall not be affected by any abatements, reductions, 

set-offs, diminutions, defenses, counterclaims and recoupments for or on account of any claims 

which City may have, any insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization or similar proceedings by or 

against the City, or any other circumstance, happening or event similar to any of the foregoing; 

nor except as otherwise expressly provided herein, shall this Installment Sale Agreement 

terminate.  Until expiration or termination of the Term, the City (i) will not suspend or 

discontinue any payments provided for in Section 4.4(a) hereof, (ii) will perform and observe all 

of its other agreements contained in this Installment Sale Agreement, and (iii) will not terminate 

the Term for any cause, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any acts or 

circumstances that may constitute failure of consideration, any defects in any component of the 

Recreational Project, any obsolescence of any component of the Recreational Project for any 

reason whatsoever, eviction or constructive eviction, destruction of or damage to the 

Recreational Project, commercial frustration of purpose, any change in the tax or other laws of 

the United States of America or of the State of Georgia or any political subdivision of either or 

any failure of the Seller to perform and observe any agreement, whether express or implied, or 

any duty, liability or obligation arising out of or connected with this Installment Sale Agreement.  

Nothing contained in this Section shall be construed to release the Seller from the performance 

of any of the agreements on its part herein contained; and if the Seller should fail to perform any 

such agreement, the City may institute such action against the Seller as the City may deem 

necessary to compel performance or recover its damages for nonperformance as long as such 

action shall not impair or affect the agreements on the part of the City contained in the preceding 

sentence and to make the payments specified in Section 4.4(a) hereof or otherwise due 

hereunder.  The City may, however, at its own cost and expense and in its own name or in the 

name of the Seller, prosecute or defend any action or proceeding or take any other action 

involving third persons which the City deems reasonably necessary in order to insure the 

acquisition, construction and installation of the Recreational Project or to secure or protect its 



 

20 

right of possession, occupancy and use hereunder, and in such event the Seller hereby agrees to 

cooperate fully with the City and to take all lawful action which is required to effect the 

substitution of City for the Seller in any such action or proceeding if the City shall so request. 

 

(c) Sale and Transfer.  The City understands and agrees that pursuant to the Transfer 

Agreement, the Originator will sell and transfer the Installment Sale Agreement and all of its 

rights, title and interest hereunder to the Lender, and the City assents to such transfer. 

 

(d) Current Obligation Only.  The provisions of this Section 4.4(d) apply 

notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary in this Installment Sale Agreement.  The 

Installment Payments and all other payments due hereunder constitute expenses of the City, and 

the City’s obligations hereunder are from year to year only and do not constitute a mandatory 

payment obligation of the City in any ensuing Installment Sale Year beyond the Installment Sale 

Year for which this Installment Sale Agreement has last been renewed, and are not in 

contravention of O.C.G.A. Section 36-60-13, as amended.  No provision hereof shall be 

construed or interpreted as creating a general obligation or other indebtedness of the City or the 

State within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory debt limitation.  Neither the execution, 

delivery, and performance of this Installment Sale Agreement nor the transfer thereof directly or 

indirectly obligates the City to make any payments hereunder beyond those coming due in the 

Installment Sale Year for which this Installment Sale Agreement has last been renewed.  No 

judgment may be entered against the City or the State of Georgia for failure to pay any amounts 

due hereunder, except to the extent that the City has theretofore incurred liability to pay any such 

amounts through its actual use of the Recreational Project or through its lawful appropriations or 

budgeting of such amounts.  Nothing in this Installment Sale Agreement shall require the City to 

levy a tax to make payments under this Installment Sale Agreement. 

 

Section 4.5.  Accelerated Purchase Option. 

On November 1, 2018, or on any subsequent Installment Payment due date, and provided 

that there is then existing no Event of Default or event which with notice or lapse of time, or 

both, could become an Event of Default or no Event of Non-appropriation, the City will have the 

one time right to prepay part of the outstanding Principal Payments by paying to the Lender, as 

assignee of the Seller, the amount of Principal Payments to be prepaid, plus accrued interest.  

Otherwise, the City shall have the right to prepay all, but not less than all, of the outstanding 

Principal Payments, together with a one percent (1%) prepayment premium and accrued interest.      

 

Section 4.6.  Covenant as to Appropriation. 

In the event this Installment Sale Agreement is not otherwise terminated, the City 

covenants and agrees that it will cause the appropriate officers of the City (i) to request that the 

governing body appropriate, or determine not to appropriate, no later than the thirtieth (30
th

) day 

before the end of the then current Fiscal Year, the Minimum Annual Appropriated Amount for 

the succeeding Fiscal Year, and (ii) to take such further action (or cause the same to be taken) as 

may be necessary or desirable to assure the availability of moneys appropriated to make all 

payments due hereunder, including all such actions for such purpose as may be required under 

O.C.G.A. Section 36-60-13, as amended.  The City will provide a Certificate of Appropriation in 

the form of Exhibit D attached hereto, or a notice that no such appropriation has been made, to 



 

21 

the Seller by the thirtieth (30th) day before the end of the Fiscal Year.  To the extent permitted 

by law, the City hereby agrees that if it intends to terminate this Installment Sale Agreement, its 

governing body shall adopt a resolution specifically making a determination to terminate this 

Installment Sale Agreement; provided, however, failure to adopt such resolution shall not be 

deemed to mean that this Installment Sale Agreement has not been terminated if an Event of 

Non-appropriation otherwise has occurred. 

 

Section 4.7.  Termination of Installment Sale Agreement on Prepayment. 

Upon the exercise by the City of its option to prepay all Principal Payments pursuant to 

Section 4.5 hereof with respect to the Recreational Project, the satisfaction of all conditions set 

forth in Section 4.5 and the payment of all other amounts due hereunder, the City shall be 

deemed to have terminated this Installment Sale Agreement. 

 

Section 4.8.  Tax Treatment of Installment Payments. 

(a) This Installment Sale Agreement is entered into on the basis that the interest 

portion of the Installment Payments is not includable in the gross income of Lender for federal 

income tax purposes and that the Installment Sale Agreement is a “qualified tax-exempt 

obligation” within the meaning of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code. 

(b) For the purposes of this Section 4.8, the following terms are defined as follows: 

 

“Adjusted Rate” means that rate of interest that must be applied so as to preserve 

the same after-tax economic yield with respect to the interest portion of Installment Payments as 

Lender would have received, had the interest portion been excludable from gross income for 

federal income tax purposes and had the Installment Sale Agreement been a qualified tax-exempt 

obligation. 

 

“Event of Taxability” means a determination by the Internal Revenue Service, any 

court of competent jurisdiction, or bond counsel acceptable to Lender that the interest portion of 

Installment Payments is includable in gross income for Federal income tax purposes or that the 

Installment Sale Agreement is not a qualified tax-exempt obligation. 

 

(c) Following the occurrence of an Event of Taxability:  (i) the City shall pay to 

Lender within thirty days of billing a sum equal to (A) the increase in the Interest Payments 

when computed at the Adjusted Rate for the period from the effective date of the Event of 

Taxability to the effective date of the modification described in (ii) below, and (B) all interest, 

penalties and other similar charges payable by Lender to the Internal Revenue Service as a result 

of the Event of Taxability; and (ii) Lender shall modify the Interest Payments component of the 

Installment Payments under the Payment Schedule for all future periods to reflect the Adjusted 

Rate, and provide notice thereof to the City, which adjusted Installment Payments the City shall 

thereafter pay. 

 

(d) Lender’s determinations of adjustments or amounts under this Section 4.8 shall be 

conclusive. 

 



 

22 

[End of Article IV] 



 

23 

ARTICLE V. 

 

MAINTENANCE; TAXES; INSURANCE; 

AND OTHER MATTERS 

Section 5.1.  Maintenance, Utilities, Taxes and Assessments. 

(a) Maintenance and Operation.  During the term of this Installment Sale Agreement, 

the City shall, at its own expense, maintain, manage and operate the Recreational Project and all 

the improvements therein in good order, condition and repair, ordinary wear and tear excepted.  

The Seller shall not be responsible to provide security service, custodial service, janitor service, 

power, gas, telephone, light, heating, water, or any other public utility services.  It is understood 

and agreed that in consideration of the payment by the City of the Installment Payments herein 

provided for, the Seller is only obligated to provide for the financing of the Recreational Project 

in the manner and to the extent herein provided, and neither the Lender nor the Originator shall 

have any obligation to incur any expense of any kind or character in connection with the 

management, operation or maintenance of the Recreational Project during the term of this 

Installment Sale Agreement. 

 

(b) Alterations.  The City will not make any alterations, additions or improvements to 

the Recreational Project without Seller’s prior written consent; provided, however, that if such 

alterations, additions or improvements shall not diminish the value or utility of the Recreational 

Project, or impair the condition thereof, below the value, utility or condition thereof immediately 

prior to such alteration, addition or improvement (assuming the Recreational Project was then of 

the value or utility and in the condition required to be maintained by the terms of this Installment 

Sale Agreement), such written consent shall not be unreasonably denied.  All property 

incorporated or installed in or attached to or added to the Recreational Project, as the result of 

such alteration, addition or improvement shall, without further act, be subject to the Security 

Deed.  The City may, at any time, remove and not replace such property, if no Default or Event 

of Default has occurred and is continuing and such property (i) is in addition to, and not in 

replacement of or substitution for, any property originally incorporated or installed in or attached 

to the Recreational Project on the date hereof or any part in replacement of, or substitution for, 

any such property, (ii) is not required to be incorporated or installed in or attached or added to 

the Recreational Project pursuant to this Section 5.1, and (iii) can be removed from the 

Recreational Project without diminishing or impairing the value, utility or condition which the 

Recreational Project would have had at such time had such alteration, addition or improvement 

not occurred. 

 

(c) Liens and Taxes.  The City shall keep the Recreational Project free and clear of all 

levies, liens, mortgages and encumbrances except for Permitted Encumbrances and those created 

under this Installment Sale Agreement, the Security Deed and the Transfer Agreement.  The City 

shall pay, when due, all charges and taxes (local, state and federal) which may now or hereafter 

be imposed upon the leasing, rental, sale, purchase, possession, ownership or use of the 

Recreational Project, whether imposed upon or payable by the Lender, the Originator or the City.  

If the City fails to pay said charges and taxes when due, the Seller shall have the right, but shall 

not be obligated, to pay said charges and taxes.  If the Seller pays any charge or tax for which the 

City is responsible or liable under this Installment Sale Agreement, the City shall reimburse the 



 

24 

Seller therefor plus interest on any unreimbursed amounts from the date of payment by the Seller 

until the date of reimbursement. 

 

Section 5.2.  Insurance. 

The City will, at its expense, maintain at all times during the Term, (i) fire, vandalism, 

malicious mischief, and extended coverage and property damage insurance with respect to the 

Recreational Project in an amount equal to the full insurable value of the Recreational Project, 

(ii) single limit comprehensive general liability insurance in an amount satisfactory to the Seller, 

and (iii) flood insurance (if applicable).  All such insurance policies shall have deductible 

amounts acceptable to the Seller, and shall be issued by such insurers as the City shall deem 

appropriate and satisfactory to the Seller.  If in furtherance of its obligation under the preceding 

sentence the City procures an insurance policy, or participates in an “interlocal risk management 

agency,” as such term is defined in O.C.G.A. Section 36-85-1, or causes the Recreational Project 

to be covered under an existing policy, each such insurance policy or pool will name the City as 

an insured and the Seller or their respective assigns as a loss payee, and will contain a clause 

requiring the insurer to give and the Seller at least thirty (30) days’ prior written notice of any 

alteration in the terms of such policy or the cancellation thereof.  The proceeds of any such 

insurance policies will be payable to the City, the Seller, or their respective assigns, as their 

interests may appear. 

 

In the event of any loss, theft, destruction, damage, vandalism, injury or accident 

involving the Recreational Project or in the event that title to, or the temporary or permanent use 

of, the Recreational Project or any portion thereof shall be taken under the exercise of the power 

of eminent domain by any governmental body or by any person, firm or corporation acting under 

governmental authority, prior to the payment of all the Installment Payments specified in the 

Installment Sale Agreement for the Recreational Project, the City will (i) promptly provide the 

Seller with written notice thereof and make available to the Seller all information and 

documentation relating thereto, (ii) promptly use the net insurance proceeds received in 

connection with such casualty if any, together with other funds (including the City’s own funds 

as described in this Section) (A) to repair or restore the Recreational Project to its condition prior 

to such casualty; or (B) to exercise its purchase option with respect to the Recreational Project 

under Section 4.5 hereof and (iii) promptly upon satisfaction of the requirement set forth in 

clause (ii)(A) above certify to the Seller in writing that any restored facility is as valuable as the 

Recreational Project.  In the event of any loss, damage, theft, vandalism or destruction of the 

Recreational Project or any part thereof prior to the payment in full of the unpaid Installment 

Payments specified in the Installment Sale Agreement, and the proceeds of any insurance 

maintained hereunder are insufficient to repair or replace the Recreational Project so damaged, 

the City shall (i) exercise its purchase option under Section 4.5 hereof or (ii) fully repair the 

Recreational Project to its condition prior to such loss, theft, damage, vandalism or destruction or 

replace it using its own funds.  The Seller shall not be responsible for the sufficiency of any 

insurance herein required and shall be fully protected in accepting payment on account of such 

insurance or any adjustment, compromise, or settlement of any loss agreed to by the Seller. 

 

 

[End of Article V] 



 

25 

ARTICLE VI. 

 

DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES; CERTAIN PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS 

Section 6.1.  Disclaimer of Warranties. 

NEITHER THE ORIGINATOR NOR THE LENDER MAKES ANY WARRANTY OR 

REPRESENTATION, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AS TO THE VALUE, DESIGN, 

CONDITION, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR 

FITNESS FOR THE USE CONTEMPLATED BY THE CITY OF THE RECREATIONAL 

PROJECT.  In no event shall the Originator or the Lender be liable for incidental, indirect, 

special or consequential damages, in connection with or arising out of this Installment Sale 

Agreement for the existence, furnishing, functioning of the City’s use and possession of the 

Recreational Project. 

 

Section 6.2.  City’s Right to Enforce Warranties. 

The Originator hereby irrevocably appoints the City its agent and attorney-in-fact during 

the Term of this Installment Sale Agreement, so long as the City shall not be in default hereunder 

and so long as there is no Event of Non-appropriation hereunder, to assert from time to time 

whatever claims and rights, including without limitation, warranty claims, claims for 

indemnification and claims for breach of any representations respecting the Recreational Project 

which the Seller may have against any vendor or contractor.  The City’s sole remedy for the 

breach of any such warranty, indemnification or representation shall be against the vendor or 

contractor with respect thereto, and not against the Seller, nor shall such matter have any effect 

whatsoever on the rights and obligations of the Seller with respect to this Installment Sale 

Agreement, including the right to receive full and timely Installment Payments and all other 

payments due hereunder.  The City shall be entitled to retain any and all amounts recovered as a 

result of the assertion of any such claims and rights, provided, that the City shall apply such 

amounts as may be required to the repair of defects or omissions in the Recreational Project that 

occasioned such claims.  The Seller shall, upon the City’s request and at the City’s expense, do 

all things and take all such actions as the City may request in connection with the assertion of 

any such claims and rights. 

 

Section 6.3.  Certain Payment Obligations. 

To the extent permitted by law, the City shall and hereby agrees to pay to the Originator, 

the Escrow Agent, the Lender and any successors, assigns, directors, officers, agents or 

subrogees the amounts of any and all claims, losses, damages, actions, proceedings, expenses, or 

liabilities, including reasonable legal fees and expenses and court costs, arising out of or in 

connection with their services in assisting with the provision or financing of the Recreational 

Project, but not due to the gross negligence or wrongful acts of such parties or breach of their 

obligations hereunder, including but not limited to claims, losses, damages, actions, proceedings, 

expenses, or liabilities arising out of (i) the use, maintenance, condition or management of, the 

Recreational Project by the City, (ii) any breach or default on the part of the City in the 

performance of any of its obligations under this Installment Sale Agreement, (iii) any act or 

negligence of the City or of any of its agents, contractors, servants, employees or licensees with 



 

26 

respect to the Recreational Project, (iv) any act or negligence of any assignee or sublessee of the 

City with respect to the Recreational Project, (v) the acquisition, construction, and installation of 

the Recreational Project or the authorization of payment of the costs thereof by the City, (vi) the 

breach by the City of any representation or warranty of the City contained in this Installment 

Sale Agreement or made by the City in connection herewith, or (vii) their enforcing any 

covenants of the City in this Installment Sale Agreement. 

 

In case any action is brought against any party that may be entitled to payment in 

connection with any matter contemplated under this Section 6.3, and it notifies the City of the 

commencement thereof, the City will be entitled to participate in, and, to the extent that it 

chooses to do so, to assume the defense thereof (including the employment of counsel), and the 

City shall assume the payment of all fees and expenses relating to such defense and shall have 

the right to negotiate and consent to settlement thereof.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the 

defendants in any such action include such an indemnified party and the City, or include more 

than one indemnified party, and there are legal defenses available to such an indemnified party 

that are different from or additional to those available to the City or another defendant 

indemnified party, and which are likely to cause a conflict of interest between the City and such 

indemnified party, or between other defendant indemnified parties, such indemnified party shall 

have the right to employ separate counsel in such action (and the City shall not be entitled to 

assume the defense thereof on behalf of such indemnified party), and in such event the 

reasonable fees and expenses of such counsel shall be borne by the City.  Nothing contained in 

this Section 6.3 shall preclude any indemnified party, at its own expense, if indemnity is 

available, from retaining additional counsel to represent such party in any action with respect to 

which indemnity may be sought from the City hereunder. 

 

The provision of this Section 6.3 shall survive termination of this Installment Sale 

Agreement for any reason to the extent that the obligation arose during the Term hereof. 

 

 

[End of Article VI] 



 

27 

ARTICLE VII. 

 

SUCCESSORS, ASSIGNMENT, PLEDGING, SALE AND AMENDMENT 

Section 7.1.  Assignment by the Originator. 

Except for the absolute assignment to the Lender as provided herein, the Originator will 

not sell the Recreational Project and will not assign this Installment Sale Agreement, or its right 

to receive Installment Payments from the City, without an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect 

that the proposed sale or assignment will not adversely affect the exclusion from gross income 

for federal income tax purposes of the Interest Payments.  In addition, no such other assignment 

or reassignment of the right to receive payments under this Installment Sale Agreement shall be 

effective unless and until the City shall have received a duplicate original counterpart of the 

document by which the assignment or reassignment is made, disclosing the name and address of 

each such assignee.  The City hereby acknowledges receipt of the Transfer Agreement for 

purposes of this Section.  During the term hereof, the City shall keep, or cause to be kept, a 

complete and accurate record of all such assignments and reassignments received in form 

necessary to comply with Section 149(a) of the Code, and the regulations, proposed or existing, 

from time to time promulgated thereunder. 

 

Upon the Originator’s assignment of this Installment Sale Agreement to the Lender, all 

references herein to the Seller shall be deemed to be references to the Lender and the Lender 

shall have the right to proceed directly against the City for all payments due hereunder. 

 

Section 7.2.  Assignment and Sublease by the City. 

Except with the consent of the Lender, this Installment Sale Agreement may not be 

assigned by the City, and the Originator may not sell or sublease the Recreational Project or 

enter into any rental agreement with respect thereto unless the Lender shall consent to such sale 

or sublease and the City shall deliver an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such sale or 

sublease will not adversely affect the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax 

purposes of the Interest Payments. 

 

 

[End of Article VII] 



 

28 

ARTICLE VIII. 

 

EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

Section 8.1.  Events of Default Defined. 

The following shall be “Events of Default” under this Installment Sale Agreement and 

the terms “Events of Default” and “Default” shall mean, whenever they are used in this 

Installment Sale Agreement, any one or more of the following events: 

 

 (i) Failure by the City to make any payment required to be paid hereunder 

and to be received by the Seller on or before the date required for such payment. 

 

 (ii) Failure by the City to observe and perform any of its obligations under 

Sections 4.6, 5.1 or 5.2 hereof. 

 

 (iii) An Event of Non-appropriation. 

 

 (iv) Failure by the City to observe and perform any other covenant, condition 

or agreement on its part to be observed or performed herein or otherwise with respect 

hereto, other than as referred to in clause (i) or (ii) of this Section, for a period of thirty 

(30) days after written notice specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied 

has been given to the City by the Seller. 

 

 (v) Failure by the City generally to pay its debts as the same become due, or 

the subjection of any right or interest of the City under this Installment Sale Agreement to 

any execution, garnishment or attachment, or assignment by the City for the benefit of 

creditors, or the entry by the City into an agreement of composition with creditors, or the 

filing of a petition applicable to the City in any insolvency proceedings. 

 

 (vi) An event of default under the Security Deed. 

 

Section 8.2.  Remedies on Default and Non-appropriation. 

Whenever any Event of Default referred to in Section 8.1 hereof shall have occurred and 

is continuing, or an Event of Non-appropriation shall have occurred, the Seller may take any one 

or more of the following remedial steps: 

 

(a) The Seller may declare all unpaid installments of amounts payable under Section 

4.4(a) hereof through the last Installment Sale Year for which this Installment Sale Agreement 

has been renewed to be immediately due and payable, whereupon the same shall become 

immediately due and payable.  If payments are accelerated pursuant to this Section 8.2(a), 

subject to the provisions of Section 4.4(d) hereof, the amount then due and payable by the City 

shall be the sum of (1) the aggregate unpaid Principal Payments due in the last Installment Sale 

Year for which this Installment Sale Agreement has been renewed, (2) the aggregate unpaid 

Interest Payments due in the last Installment Sale Year for which this Installment Sale 

Agreement has been renewed, (3) any other amounts which may be owing to the Seller pursuant 



 

29 

to this Installment Sale Agreement for the last Installment Sale Year for which this Installment 

Sale Agreement has been renewed; 

 

(b) With or without terminating this Installment Sale Agreement, retake possession of 

the Recreational Project wherever situated, without any court order or other process of law and 

without liability for entering the premises, and lease, sublease, or make other disposition of the 

Recreational Project for use over a term in a commercially reasonable manner; provided that the 

City shall remain directly liable for the amount actually appropriated for the purchase or rental of 

the Recreational Project and unpaid by the City during the then current Installment Sale Year; or 

 

(c) Terminate this Installment Sale Agreement and take possession of the 

Recreational Project wherever situated, without any court order or other process of law and 

without liability for entering the premises, and sell the Recreational Project in a commercially 

reasonable manner.  All proceeds from such sale shall be applied as described below.  

Notwithstanding such sale, the city shall be liable from the amount actually appropriated for the 

purchase or rental of the Recreational Project and unpaid by the City during the then current 

Installment Sale Year. 

 

NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING HEREIN OR IN THE OTHER DOCUMENTS 

OR CLOSING DOCUMENTS TO THE CONTRARY, THE LIABILITY OF ORIGINATOR 

WITH RESPECT TO ITS OBLIGATIONS HEREUNDER OR THEREUNDER SHALL BE 

LIMITED TO ITS INTEREST IN THE RECREATIONAL PROJECT, AND NO PERSONAL 

LIABILITY OR RESPONSIBILITY, WHETHER EXPRESS, IMPLIED, OR ARISING BY 

OPERATION OF LAW, IS ASSUMED BY ORIGINATOR, NOR SHALL ANY PERSONAL 

LIABILITY OR RESPONSIBILITY BE ASSERTED OR ENFORCEABLE AGAINST THE 

ORIGINATOR, ALL SUCH PERSONAL LIABILITY OR RESPONSIBILITY BEING 

HEREBY EXPRESSLY WAIVED BY THE CITY AND BEING EXPRESSLY WAIVED BY 

THE LENDER PURSUAN TO THE SECURITY DEED. 

 

The Seller shall apply the sale proceeds or purchase moneys or other amounts paid by a 

buyer for the Recreational Project in the following manner on dates selected by the Seller: 

 

FIRSTLY, to repay all proper and reasonable costs and expenses of the Seller associated 

with the recovery, repair, storage, and sale of the Recreational Project, including reasonable 

attorney’s fees and expenses actually incurred by the Seller; 

 

SECONDLY, to pay the Seller (i) the amount of all unpaid Installment Payments, if any, 

which are then due and owing for the current Installment Sale Year, together with interest and 

late charges thereon, and (ii) any other amounts due hereunder, including indemnity payments 

under Section 6.3, and reimbursement of any advances and other amounts payable to the Seller 

hereunder; and 

 

THIRDLY, to pay the remainder of the sale proceeds, purchase moneys, or other amounts 

paid by a buyer of the Recreational Project, to the City. 

 

(a) The Seller may exercise its remedies under the Security Deed; 



 

30 

 

(b) The Seller may require the City to furnish copies of all books and records of the 

City pertaining to the Recreational Project; and 

 

(c) The Seller may take whatever action at law or in equity which may appear 

necessary or desirable to collect the amounts due, or to enforce performance and observance of 

any obligation, agreement or covenant of the City under this Installment Sale Agreement. 

 

Section 8.3.  Non-appropriation. 

Upon an Event of Non-appropriation, the City shall not be obligated to make the 

Installment Payments and other payments provided for herein beyond the last day of the last 

Installment Sale Year for which this Installment Sale Agreement has been renewed.  The City 

shall, however, be obligated to pay accrued interest through the last day of the last installment 

year for which this Installment Sale Agreement has been renewed.   

 

Section 8.4.  No Remedy Exclusion. 

No remedy conferred herein upon or reserved to the Seller is intended to be exclusive and 

every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given 

under this Installment Sale Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity.  No delay 

or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any default shall impair any such right 

or power or shall be construed to be a waiver thereof, but any such right and power may be 

exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient.  In order to entitle the 

Seller to exercise any remedy reserved to them in this Article, it shall not be necessary to give 

any notice, other than such notice as may be required in this Article or by law. 

 

Section 8.5.  Agreement to Pay Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses. 

In the event that the City should default under any of the provisions hereof and the 

nondefaulting party should employ attorneys or incur other expenses for the collection of 

moneys or the enforcement of performance or observance of any obligation or agreement on the 

part of the City contained herein, the City agrees that it will on demand therefor pay to the 

nondefaulting party the reasonable fees of such attorneys and such other expenses so incurred by 

the nondefaulting party. 

 

  



 

31 

Section 8.6.  No Additional Waiver Implied by One Waiver. 

In the event any agreement contained in this Installment Sale Agreement should be 

breached by either party and thereafter waived by the other party, such waiver shall be limited to 

the particular breach so waived and shall not be deemed to waive any other breach hereunder.  

 

 

[End of Article VIII]  



 

32 

ARTICLE IX. 

 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 9.1.  Notices. 

All notices, certificates or other communications hereunder shall be sufficiently given 

and shall be deemed to have been received five (5) days after deposit in the United States mail in 

certified form, postage prepaid, at the following addresses: 

 

If to the City: City of Fayetteville 

240 South Glynn Street 

Fayetteville, GA  30214-2040 

Attention:  City Manager 

 

with a copy to: Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP 

Atlantic Station 

201 17
th

 Street NW, Suite 1700 

Atlanta, GA 30363 

Attention: David P. Winkle, Esq. 

 

with another copy to: Butler Snow LLP 

577 Mulberry Street, Suite 1225 

Macon, Georgia 31201 

Attention:  Blake C. Sharpton, Esq. 

 

If to the Originator: Georgia Municipal Association, Inc. 

201 Pryor Street 

Atlanta, Georgia  30303 

Attention: Lease Program Administrator 

 

with a copy to: Counsel to Georgia Municipal Association, Inc. 

201 Pryor Street 

Atlanta, Georgia  30303 

Attention:  Susan Moore, Esq. 

 

If to the Lender: Branch Banking and Trust Company 

5130 Parkway Plaza Blvd.  

Charlotte, NC 28217  

Attention:  Matthew Williams 

 

with a copy to: Murray Barnes Finister, LLP 

3525 Piedmont Road 

Building 5, Suite 515 

Atlanta, GA 30305 

Attention: Teresa Finister 

 



 

33 

 

 

Any party, by notice given hereunder, may designate different addresses to which 

subsequent notices, certificates or other communications will be sent. 

 

Section 9.2.  Binding Effect. 

This Installment Sale Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon 

the Seller and the City and their respective successors and the assigns of Seller. 

 

Section 9.3.  Severability. 

In the event any provision of this Installment Sale Agreement shall be held invalid or 

unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 

unenforceable any other provision hereof. 

 

Section 9.4.  Amendments, Changes and Modifications. 

This Installment Sale Agreement may not be amended or any of its terms modified 

without the written consent of the Lender. 

 

Section 9.5.  Further Assurances and Corrective Instruments. 

The Seller and the City agree that they will, from time to time, execute, acknowledge and 

deliver, or cause to be executed, acknowledged and delivered, such supplements hereto or to the 

Security Deed and such further instruments as may reasonably be required for correcting any 

inadequate or incorrect description of the Recreational Project hereby agreed to be sold or 

intended so to be or for carrying out the expressed intention of this Installment Sale Agreement. 

 

Section 9.6.  Execution in Counterparts. 

This Installment Sale Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of 

which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

 

Section 9.7.  Applicable Law. 

This Installment Sale Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with 

the laws of the State. 

 

Section 9.8.  Survival. 

The provisions of this Installment Sale Agreement shall survive the Closing Date and the 

transfer and sale of the Recreational Project. 

  



 

34 

Section 9.9.  Security Agreement. 

The City hereby grants the Seller a security interest in its right under this Installment Sale 

Agreement and the architect contracts and construction contracts relating to the Recreational 

Project.  Upon an Event of Default or any Event of Non-appropriation (but only upon such 

events), the Lender shall be entitled to exercise the City’s rights under this Installment Sale 

Agreement. 

 

Section 9.10 Limited Liability. 

Notwithstanding anything herein or in the Security Deed, Transfer Agreement, 

Environmental Agreement or closing documents to the contrary, the liability of Seller and 

Lender with respect to their obligations hereunder or thereunder shall be limited to their interest 

in the Project, and no personal liability, whether express, implied,  or arising by operation of law, 

is assumed by Seller and Lender, nor shall any personal liability or responsibility be asserted or 

enforceable against Seller and Lender, all such personal liability or responsibility being hereby 

expressly waived by City. 

 

 

[End of Article IX] 

 

 



 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City and the Originator have caused this Installment Sale 

Agreement to be executed in their respective corporate names and their respective corporate 

seals to be hereunto affixed and attested by their duly authorized officers, all as of the date first 

above written. 

 

Signed, sealed and delivered 

in the presence of: 

 

 

______________________________ 

Unofficial Witness 

 

 

______________________________ 

Notary Public 

 

GEORGIA MUNICIPAL ASSOCIATION, INC. 

 

 

By: __________________________________ 

Larry H. Hanson, Executive Director 

 

 

[SEAL] 

 

 

My Commission Expires: 

 

______________________________ 

 

 

[NOTARIAL SEAL] 

 

Attest: 

 

 

By: __________________________________ 

Darin Jenkins 

Financial Services Program Manager 

 

 

  



 

 

Signed, sealed and delivered 

in the presence of: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Unofficial Witness 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Notary Public 

 

CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE, GEORGIA 

 

 

 

By: __________________________________ 

Edward J. Johnson, Jr., Mayor 

 

 

[SEAL] 

 

 

My Commission Expires: 

 

_________________________________ 

 

 

[NOTARIAL SEAL] 

 

Attest: 

 

 

By: __________________________________ 

Anne Barksdale, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

Approved as to Form and Content: 

 

 

 

 

By:_______________________________ 

David P. Winkle, City Attorney 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT A 

 

 

SCHEDULE 1 

 

BASIC TERMS: 

 

 

INSTALLMENT SALE AMOUNT: $2,895,000
 

 

INTEREST RATE:  3.34%* 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

__________________ 

*  Based upon a 360-day year comprised of twelve thirty-day months. 



 

 

SCHEDULE 2 

 

 

INSTALLMENT PAYMENT AMOUNTS 

 

 

[See Attached] 



 

 

EXHIBIT B 

 

 

DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY 

 

 
ALL THAT TRACT or parcel of land lying and being in Land Lot 123 of the 5th District of 

Fayette County, Georgia and being more particularly described as follows: 

 

BEGINNING at a found 1 1/2” open top pipe at the southwest corner of Land Lot 123 of the 5th 

District of Fayette County, Georgia; 

 

Thence along the west line of said Land Lot 123 also being the east line of lands shown in Plat 

Book 36 Page 46, North 00 degrees 28 minutes 32 seconds East, a distance of 239.59 feet to a 

found 1/2” rebar; 

 

Thence along the south line of City of Fayetteville Cemetery, South 89 degrees 31 minutes 36 

seconds East, a distance of 538.98 feet to a found nail and disk; 

 

Thence along the west line of City of Fayetteville Cemetery, North 00 degrees 28 minutes 24 

seconds East, a distance of 625.09 feet to the south right-of-way of Stonewall Avenue; 

 

Thence along said right-of-way, South 89 degrees 03 minutes 27 seconds East, a distance of 

50.00 feet; 

 

Thence leaving said right-of-way, South 00 degrees 28 minutes 24 seconds West, a distance of 

310.67 feet; 

 

Thence South 89 degrees 47 minutes 58 seconds East, a distance of 284.41 feet to the west line 

of lands described in Deed Book 484 Page 480; 

 

Thence along said west line, South 00 degrees 12 minutes 02 seconds West, a distance of 571.37 

feet to a found 1/2” rebar on the south line of Land Lot 123; 

 

Thence along said south line, North 88 degrees 27 minutes 12 seconds West, a distance of 

876.26 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING. 

 

Containing 7.76 acres, more or less. 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT C 

 

 

DESCRIPTION OF RECREATIONAL PROJECT FACILITIES 

 

 

 

 The Recreational Project Facilities consist of recreational facilities. 

 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT D 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATION 

 

 

Re: Installment Sale Agreement, dated as of June ___, 2018 (the “Installment Sale 

Agreement”) between City of Fayetteville, Georgia and Georgia Municipal 

Association, Inc. 

 

 

The undersigned officers of City of Fayetteville, Georgia (the “City”) hereby certify that 

the Minimum Annual Appropriated Amount for the current fiscal year, that is, Installment 

Payments of $__________, (as such terms are defined in the referenced Installment Sale 

Agreement), are within such City’s operating budget or budgets for the fiscal year ending June 

30, 20____, and an appropriation of funds for such fiscal year has been made and is available 

therefor. 

 

Dated: _________________________ 

 

 

CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE, GEORGIA 

 

 

 

By:   

Mayor 

 

 

 

By:   

City Clerk 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT E 

 

 

FORM OF REQUISITION 

 

In accordance with the terms of the Installment Sale Agreement, dated as of June ___, 

2018 (the “Installment Sale Agreement”), between City of Fayetteville, Georgia (the “City”) 

and Georgia Municipal Association, Inc., the undersigned hereby requests that 

____________________, as Escrow Agent (the “Escrow Agent”) pay the following persons the 

following amounts from the Escrow Fund created under the Installment Sale Agreement (the 

“Escrow Fund”) for the following purposes. 

 

Payee’s Name 

and Address 

 

Invoice Number 

 

Dollar Amount 

 

Purpose 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

 

The undersigned hereby certifies as follows: 

 

(i) Insofar as such obligation was incurred for work, material, supplies or equipment 

in connection with the Recreational Project Facilities, such work was actually performed, or such 

material, supplies or equipment was actually installed in or about the Recreational Project 

Facilities were delivered at the site of the work for that purpose. 

 

(ii) An obligation in the stated amount has been incurred by the City, and the same is 

a proper charge against the City’s Escrow Fund and has not been paid.  The bill, invoice or 

statement of account for such obligation, or a copy thereof, is on file with the City. 

 

(iii) The undersigned, as Authorized City Representative, has no notice of any 

vendor’s, mechanic’s or other liens or rights to liens, chattel mortgages, conditional sales 

contracts or security interest which should be satisfied or discharged before such payment is 

made. 

 

This requisition contains no item representing payment on account, or any retained 

percentages which the City is, at the date hereof, entitled to retain. 

 

(iv) The Recreational Project is insured in accordance with the Installment Sale 

Agreement. 

 



 

 

(v) No Event of Default, and no event which with notice or lapse of time, or both, 

would become an Event of Default, has occurred and is continuing at the date hereof. 

 

 

Dated: __________________  

 

CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE, GEORGIA 

 

 

 

By:   

Ray Gibson, City Manager and Authorized City 

Representative 

 

 

 

 

 



______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

THIS INSTRUMENT DOES NOT SECURE A “LONG TERM NOTE” AS DEFINED IN 

OFFICIAL CODE OF GEORGIA ANNOTATED SECTION 48-6-60(3) AND DOES NOT 

SECURE A NOTE; THEREFORE, IT IS NOT SUBJECT TO THE INTANGIBLE 

RECORDING TAX, AS PROVIDED IN OFFICIAL CODE OF GEORGIA ANNOTATED 

SECTION 48-6-61 AND RULE 560-11-8-0.14 OF THE GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF 

REVENUE.  THIS INSRUMENT SECURES AN INSTALLMENT SALE AGREEMENT 

THAT MAY BE TERMINATED EACH YEAR.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

After recording return to: 

Blake C. Sharpton 

Butler Snow LLP 

577 Mulberry Street, Suite 1225 

Macon, Georgia 31201 

(478) 238-1360 

 

 

DEED TO SECURE DEBT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT 

 

 

THIS INSTRUMENT, made and entered into as of this ___ day of June, 2018, by and 

between GEORGIA MUNICIPAL ASSOCIATION, INC., a Georgia nonprofit corporation 

(“ORIGINATOR”), and BRANCH BANKING AND TRUST COMPANY, a North Carolina 

banking corporation (“SECURED PARTY”), having an address at ____________________. 

 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

 

1.01 THAT FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION of the sum of $10.00 and other 

valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency whereof are hereby acknowledged, and in 

order to secure the indebtedness and other obligations of Originator hereinafter set forth, 

Originator does hereby grant, bargain, sell, convey, assign, transfer, pledge, and set over unto 

Secured Party, and grant a security interest in, the following described property (collectively, the 

“Recreational Project”): (a) all those certain tracts, pieces or parcels of land (and any easements 

or other interests in land) more particularly described in Exhibit “A” hereto (the “Land”); and 

(b) all buildings, structures and improvements of every nature whatsoever now or hereafter 

situated on, under or above the Land as described in Exhibit “B” hereto; all of which foregoing 

items are hereby declared and shall be deemed to be fixtures and accessions to the Land and a 

part of the Recreational Project as between the parties hereto and all persons claiming by, 

through or under them, and which shall be deemed to be a portion of the security for the 

indebtedness herein described and to be secured by this Instrument, a portion of the above 



2 

described collateral being located upon the Land; (c) all easements, rights-of-way, strips and 

gores of land, vaults, streets, ways, alleys, passages, sewer rights, waters, water courses, water 

rights, minerals, flowers, shrubs, crops, trees, timber and other emblements now or hereafter 

located on the Land or under or above the same or any part or parcel thereof, and all estates, 

rights, titles, interests, tenements, hereditaments and appurtenances, reversions and remainders 

whatsoever, in any way belonging, relating or appertaining to the Recreational Project or any 

part thereof, or which hereafter shall in any way belong, relate or be appurtenant thereto, whether 

now owned or hereafter acquired by Originator; (d) all right, title and interest of Originator in 

any and all leases, rental agreements and arrangements of any sort now or hereafter affecting the 

Recreational Project or any portion thereof and providing for or resulting in the payment of 

money to Originator for the use of the Recreational Project or any part thereof, whether the user 

enjoys the Recreational Project or any part thereof as tenant for years, invitee, licensee, tenant at 

sufferance or otherwise, and irrespective of whether such leases, rental agreements and 

arrangements be oral or written (the “Leases”) and guaranties of the performance or obligations 

of any tenants or lessees thereunder (the “Tenants”), together with all income, rents, issues, 

profits and revenues from the Leases (including all tenant security deposits and all other tenant 

deposits, whether held by Originator or in a trust account and all other deposits and escrow funds 

relating to any Leases), and all the estate, right, title, interest, property, possession, claim and 

demand whatsoever at law, as well as in equity, of Originator in and to the same; (e) all right, 

title and interest of Originator in, to and under all franchise agreements, management contracts, 

service contracts, utility contracts, leases of equipment, documents relating to the construction of 

any improvements on the Recreational Project (including any and all construction contracts, 

architectural contracts, engineering contracts, designs, plans, specifications, drawing, surveys, 

tests, reports, bonds and governmental approvals) and all other contracts, licenses and permits 

now or hereafter affecting the Recreational Project or any part thereof and all guaranties and 

warranties with respect to any of the foregoing (the “Contracts”); (f) all right, title and interest 

of Originator in any insurance policies or binders now or hereafter relating to the Recreational 

Project, including any unearned premiums thereon; (g) all right, title and interest of Originator in 

any and all awards, payments, proceeds and the right to receive the same, either before or after 

any foreclosure hereunder, as a result of any temporary or permanent injury or damage to, taking 

of or decrease in the value of the Recreational Project by reason of casualty, condemnation or 

otherwise; (h) all claims and causes of action arising from or otherwise related to any of the 

foregoing; and (i) all proceeds of any of the property described above. 

 

1.02 TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the Recreational Project and all parts, rights, 

members and appurtenances thereof, to the use, benefit and behoof of Secured Party, IN FEE 

SIMPLE forever; and Originator covenants that Originator is lawfully seized of the Recreational 

Project as aforesaid and has good right to convey the same, that the same are unencumbered 

except for those matters expressly set forth as exceptions in the title insurance policy issued in 

connection herewith, and Originator does warrant and will forever defend the title thereto against 

the claims of all persons claiming through it, except as to the matters set forth as exceptions in 

the title insurance policy issued in connection herewith. 

 

1.03 THIS INSTRUMENT is a deed passing the title to the Recreational Project to 

Secured Party and is made under the laws of the State of Georgia relating to deeds to secure debt, 

and is not a mortgage, and is given to secure the payment of the following described obligations 



3 

(collectively, the “Obligations”): (a) the payment of all the obligations of City of Fayetteville, 

Georgia, a municipal corporation of the State of Georgia (the “City”) described in the 

Installment Sale Agreement (defined below in this paragraph), notwithstanding the termination 

of the Installment Sale Agreement or the invalidity of the Installment Sale Agreement as to the 

City in whole or in part; the Installment Sale Agreement is in the principal amount of TWO 

MILLION EIGHT HUNDRED NINETY-FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,895,000) and may 

be renewed on an annual basis for a term through November 1, 2029, together with all renewals, 

modifications, consolidations, replacements and extensions thereof; and (b) any and all 

additional advances made or costs or expenses incurred by Secured Party to protect or preserve 

the Recreational Project or the security interest created hereby, or for taxes, assessments or 

insurance premiums as provided in the Installment Sale Agreement, or for performance of any of 

Originator’s obligations hereunder or for any purpose referred to in Section 2.03 hereof, or for 

any other purpose provided herein (whether or not the original Originator remains the owner of 

the Recreational Project at the time of such advances are made or costs or expenses incurred).  

For purposes of this Instrument, the term “Installment Sale Agreement” shall mean the 

Installment Sale Agreement of even date herewith by and between Originator and the City, 

which has been assigned by Originator to Secured Party pursuant to the Assignment and Transfer 

Agreement of even date herewith by and between the Originator and the Secured Party (the 

“Transfer Agreement”); and the term “Documents” shall mean this Instrument, the Transfer 

Agreement, the Installment Sale Agreement, the Agreement Regarding Environmental Activity 

of even date herewith by the City in favor of the Originator and the Secured Party (the 

“Environmental Agreement”) and any other documents to or of which Secured Party, the 

Originator or the City is a party or beneficiary now or hereafter evidencing, securing or 

otherwise relating to the Obligations or the Recreational Project. This Instrument is expressly 

made prior and senior to the Installment Sale Agreement and to the conveyance of the 

Recreational Project made pursuant thereto. 

 

1.04 SHOULD THE OBLIGATIONS BE PAID according to the tenor and effect 

thereof when the same shall become due and payable, and should Originator perform all 

covenants herein contained in a timely manner, then this Instrument shall be canceled and 

surrendered. 

 

1.05 NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING HEREIN OR IN THE OTHER 

DOCUMENTS OR CLOSING DOCUMENTS TO THE CONTRARY, THE LIABILITY OF 

ORIGINATOR WITH RESPECT TO ITS OBLIGATIONS HEREUNDER OR THEREUNDER 

SHALL BE LIMITED TO ITS INTEREST IN THE RECREATIONAL PROJECT, AND NO 

PERSONAL LIABILITY OR RESPONSIBILITY, WHETHER EXPRESS, IMPLIED, OR 

ARISING BY OPERATION OF LAW, IS ASSUMED BY ORIGINATOR, NOR SHALL ANY 

PERSONAL LIABILITY OR RESPONSIBILITY BE ASSERTED OR ENFORCEABLE 

AGAINST THE UNDERSIGNED, ALL SUCH PERSONAL LIABILITY OR 

RESPONSIBILITY BEING HEREBY EXPRESSLY WAIVED BY SECURED PARTY. 

 

 

COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 

 



4 

2.01 Security Agreement.  This Instrument is hereby made and declared to be a 

security agreement encumbering each and every item of personal property included herein as a 

part of the Recreational Project, in compliance with the provisions of the Uniform Commercial 

Code as enacted in the jurisdiction applicable thereto (the “Code”).  The remedies for any 

violation of the covenants, terms and conditions of the security agreement contained in this 

Instrument shall be as prescribed herein, or as prescribed by general law, or as prescribed by the 

Code, all at Secured Party’s election in the discretion of Secured Party.  Any notice of sale, 

disposition or other action by Secured Party with respect to personal property which is a part of 

the Recreational Project sent to Originator in accordance with the provisions hereof relating to 

communications at least ten (10) days prior to such action shall constitute adequate and 

reasonable notice to Originator of such action.  The mention in any financing statement or 

statements of rights in and to (a) the proceeds of any insurance policy, or (b) any award in 

eminent domain proceedings for a taking or for loss of value, or (c) Originator’s interest as lessor 

in any present or future lease or rights to income growing out of the use and/or occupancy of the 

Recreational Project, whether pursuant to a lease or otherwise, shall not in any way limit any of 

the rights of Secured Party as determined by this Instrument or affect the priority of Secured 

Party’s security interest granted hereby or by any other recorded document, it being understood 

and agreed that such mention in such financing statement or statements is solely for the 

protection of Secured Party in the event any court shall at any time hold with respect thereto, that 

notice of Secured Party’s priority of interest, to be effective against all persons or against a 

particular class of persons, must be filed in the Code records.  The names of the “Debtor” and 

the “Secured Party” (which are Originator and Secured Party, respectively), the address of the 

“Secured Party” from which information concerning the security interest may be obtained, and 

the address of “Debtor,” are as set forth in Section 4.04, hereof; and a statement indicating the 

types, or describing the items, of collateral is set forth hereinabove.  Originator agrees to furnish 

Secured Party with notice of any change in the name, identity, residence, principal place of 

business or mailing address of Originator within ten (10) days of the effective date of any such 

change. 

 

2.02 Further Assurances: After-Acquired Property.  Originator shall, and shall cause 

the City to, execute and/or deliver (and pay the costs of preparation and recording thereof) to 

Secured Party, upon demand, any further instrument or instruments so as to evidence, reaffirm, 

correct, perfect, continue or preserve the obligations of Originator or the City under the 

Documents, the collateral at any time securing or intended to secure the Documents, and the first 

and prior legal security title and interest of Secured Party to all or any part of the Recreational 

Project, whether now owned or hereafter acquired by Originator or the City. Upon any failure of 

Originator or the City so to do, Secured Party may make, execute, record, file, re-record and/or 

re-file any and all such instruments for and in the name of Originator or the City, and Originator 

hereby, and shall cause the City to, irrevocably appoint Secured Party agent and attorney-in-fact 

to do so. The security title of this Instrument and the security title created hereby will 

automatically attach, without further act, to all after-acquired property attached to or used in the 

operation of the Recreational Project or any part thereof. 

 

2.03 Expenses. There shall be included in the Obligations secured hereby all costs and 

expenses of any kind (including fees of attorneys, auditors, appraisers and inspectors) paid or 

incurred by Secured Party relating to the Obligations or the Documents, including those paid or 



5 

incurred in connection with the commitment, negotiation, documentation, preparation, closing, 

disbursement, or administration of the Obligations or any one or more of the Documents, or in 

connection with the collection of any insurance or other proceeds or enforcement of any rights of 

Secured Party under or relating to this Instrument or the other Documents, including the costs of 

any suits or proceedings or disputes of any kind in which Secured Party is made or appears as a 

party plaintiff or defendant or which are, in the judgment of Secured Party, expedient to preserve 

or protect its interest in the Recreational Project (including condemnation, insolvency, 

bankruptcy or probate proceedings, administrative proceedings, proceedings relating to 

enforcement of laws or regulations, forfeiture proceedings, and appeals at all levels of appeal, 

whether before or after entry of judgment or other determination). There shall be included in the 

Obligations secured hereby all interest and penalties owing on account of the Obligations or any 

one or more of the Documents, including any interest or penalties arising on account of failure or 

delay in payment of any of the items referred to in this provision.  There shall be included in the 

Obligations secured hereby all costs and expenses (including reasonable attorney’s fees and fees 

of auditors, appraisers and inspectors) in connection with the collection of the Obligations, or 

any portion thereof, after maturity (whether in due course or by acceleration).  All such costs, 

expenses, penalties and interest paid or incurred by Secured Party shall be considered due and 

payable immediately upon their incurrence. 

 

2.04 Conveyance or Encumbrance.  The Originator (except to the City as contemplated 

by the Installment Sale Agreement) shall not encumber, pledge, convey, transfer or assign any or 

all of its interests in the Recreational Project, or execute or consent to any instrument or matter 

which might affect the title to the Recreational Project, or acquire any portion of the personal 

property covered by this Instrument subject to any charge or lien, without the prior written 

consent of Secured Party, which consent shall be given or withheld by Secured Party at its 

discretion. 

 

DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

 

3.01 Defaults. The term “Default,” wherever used in this Instrument, shall mean any 

one or more of the following events: (a) a failure in payment of any portion of the Obligations; or 

(b) the breach or failure by Originator or the City to perform, observe and satisfy all other terms, 

covenants, conditions and agreements contained in this Instrument or in any of the other 

Documents and the continuance thereof for a period of thirty (30) days after the giving of notice 

thereof by the Originator to the Secured Party and the City (which notice may be given as 

provided in the Installment Sale Agreement); or (c) any warranty or representation of Originator 

or the City contained in this Instrument or in any other of the Documents, or any material 

information relating to the Obligations or the Documents given to Secured Party by the City or 

Originator, or by any other party on behalf of or at the request of Originator or the City, being 

untrue or misleading in any material respect; or (d) a levy shall be made under any process on the 

Recreational Project or any part thereof; or (e) the assertion of any claim of priority to this 

Instrument, by title, lien or otherwise in any legal or equitable proceeding; or (f) the City 

commences the process of liquidation or dissolution, or its statutory authority is revoked; or (g) 

the subjection of the Recreational Project to actual or threatened waste, or the removal, 

demolition, or alteration of any part thereof without the prior written consent of Secured Party; or 

(h) any mechanic’s, materialmen’s, laborer’s, statutory or other lien is filed against the 



6 

Recreational Project or any portion thereof and not totally released or removed as a lien against 

the Recreational Project and every part thereof (by bonding, payment or otherwise) within thirty 

(30) days after the date of filing thereof; or (i) any suit shall be filed against Originator or the 

City which, if adversely determined, could reasonably be expected substantially to impair the 

ability of Originator to perform each and every one of its obligations under the Documents; or (j) 

all or any substantial portion of the Recreational Project shall be taken through condemnation, or 

any portion of the Recreational Project shall be damaged by or taken through condemnation and 

the value thereof shall, in the discretion of Secured Party, be materially diminished, either 

temporarily or permanently; or (k) the occurrence of an Event of Default or an Event of 

Nonappropriation under the Installment Sale Agreement; or (l) the failure of this Instrument to 

grant to Secured Party a valid, binding and enforceable first lien on and/or security title in and to 

the Recreational Project, or the failure of any one or more of the Documents to be legal, valid, 

binding upon and enforceable against all parties thereto (other than Secured Party), or the claim 

by any party (other than Secured Party) to any one or more of the Documents that any one or 

more of the Documents is not legal, valid, binding upon and enforceable against all parties 

thereto (other than Secured Party). 

 

3.02 Rights of Lender Upon Default.  If a Default shall have occurred, then all of the 

Obligations shall, at the option of Secured Party, immediately be deemed due and payable 

without notice or demand, time being of the essence, and Secured Party, at its option, may do 

any one or more of the following (and, if more than one, either concurrently or independently, 

and in such order as Secured Party may determine in its discretion), in addition to its other 

remedies under the Documents, all without regard to the adequacy or value of the security for the 

Obligations: 

 

(a) Enter upon and take possession of the Recreational Project without the 

appointment of a receiver, or an application therefor; at its option, operate the Recreational 

Project; at its option, exclude Originator, the City and its agents, employees and assigns wholly 

therefrom; at its option, employ a managing agent of the Recreational Project; and at its option, 

exercise any one or more of the rights and powers of Originator to the same extent as Originator 

could, either in its own name, or in the name of Originator; and receive the rents, incomes, issues 

and profits of the Recreational Project. Secured Party shall have no obligation to discharge any 

duties of a landlord to any Tenant or to incur any liability as a result of any exercise by Secured 

Party of any rights hereunder; and Secured Party shall not be liable for any failure to collect 

rents, issues, profits or revenues, nor liable to account for any rents, issues, profits or revenues 

unless actually received by Secured Party. 

 

(b) Apply, as a matter of strict right, without notice and without regard to the 

solvency of any party bound for its payment, for the appointment of a receiver to take possession 

of and to operate the Recreational Project and to collect and apply the incomes, rents, issues, 

profits and revenues thereof. 

 

(c) Pay, perform or observe any term, covenant or condition of this 

Instrument and any of the other Documents and all payments made or costs or expenses incurred 

by Secured Party in connection therewith shall be secured hereby.  The necessity for any such 

actions and the amounts to be paid shall be determined by Secured Party in its discretion.  



7 

Secured Party is hereby empowered to enter and to authorize others to enter upon the 

Recreational Project or any part thereof for the purpose of performing or observing any such 

defaulted term, covenant or condition without thereby becoming liable to Originator, the City or 

any person in possession holding under Originator or the City.  Originator hereby acknowledges 

and agrees that the remedies set forth in this Paragraph 3.02(c) shall be exercisable by Secured 

Party, and any and all payments made or costs or expenses incurred by Secured Party in 

connection therewith shall be secured hereby. 

 

(d) Sell the Recreational Project or any part of the Recreational Project at one 

or more public sale or sales at the usual place for conducting sales of the City in which the Land 

or any part of the Land is situated, to the highest bidder for cash, in order to pay the Obligations, 

and all expenses of sale and of all proceedings in connection therewith, including reasonable 

attorney’s fees, after advertising the time, place and terms of sale once a week for four (4) weeks 

immediately preceding such sale (but without regard to the number of days) in a newspaper in 

which sheriff’s sales are advertised in said City, all other notice being hereby waived by 

Originator. At any such public sale, Secured Party may execute and deliver to the purchaser a 

conveyance of the Recreational Project or any part of the Recreational Project in fee simple, with 

full warranties of title, and to this end Originator hereby constitutes and appoints Secured Party 

the agent and attorney-in-fact of Originator to make such sale and conveyance, and thereby to 

divest Originator and the City of all right, title and equity that Originator or the City may have in 

and to the Recreational Project and to vest the same in the purchaser or purchasers at such sale or 

sales, and all the acts and doings of said agent and attorney-in-fact are hereby ratified and 

confirmed, and any recitals in said conveyance or conveyances as to facts essential to a valid sale 

shall be binding upon Originator. The aforesaid power of sale and agency hereby granted are 

coupled with an interest and are irrevocable by death or otherwise, and shall not be exhausted by 

one exercise thereof but may be exercised until full payment of all of the Obligations. In the 

event of any sale under this Instrument by virtue of the exercise of the powers herein granted, or 

pursuant to any order in any judicial proceeding or otherwise, the Recreational Project may be 

sold as an entirety or in separate parcels and in such manner or order as Secured Party in its 

discretion may elect, and if Secured Party so elects, Secured Party may sell the personal property 

covered by this Instrument at one or more separate sales in any manner permitted by the Code, 

and one or more exercises of the powers herein granted shall not extinguish nor exhaust such 

powers, until the entire Recreational Project is sold or the Obligations are paid in full.  Secured 

Party may, at its option, sell the Recreational Project subject to the rights of any tenants of the 

Recreational Project, and the failure to make any such tenants parties to any foreclosure 

proceedings and to foreclose their rights will not be asserted by Originator to be a defense to any 

proceedings instituted by Secured Party to collect the Obligations. If the Obligations are now or 

hereafter further secured by any chattel mortgages, pledges, contracts of guaranty, assignments 

of lease or other security instruments, Secured Party may at its option exhaust the remedies 

granted under any of said security either concurrently or independently, and in such order as 

Secured Party may determine in its discretion. Upon any foreclosure sale, Secured Party may bid 

for and purchase the Recreational Project and shall be entitled to apply all or any part of the 

Obligations as a credit to the purchase price.  In the event of any such foreclosure sale by 

Secured Party, Originator shall be deemed a tenant holding over and shall forthwith deliver 

possession to the purchaser or purchasers at such sale or be summarily dispossessed according to 

provisions of law applicable to tenants holding over.  In case Secured Party shall have proceeded 



8 

to enforce any right, power or remedy under this Instrument by foreclosure, entry or otherwise or 

in the event Secured Party commences advertising of the intended exercise of the sale under 

power provided hereunder, and such proceeding or advertisement shall have been withdrawn, 

discontinued or abandoned for any reason, then in every such case (i) Originator and Secured 

Party shall be restored to their former positions and rights, (ii) all rights, powers and remedies of 

Secured Party shall continue as if no such proceeding had been taken, (iii) each and every 

Default declared or occurring prior or subsequent to such withdrawal, discontinuance or 

abandonment shall be deemed to be a continuing Default, and (iv) neither this Instrument, nor 

the Obligations, nor any other Document shall be or shall be deemed to have been reinstated or 

otherwise affected by such withdrawal, discontinuance or abandonment; and Originator hereby 

expressly waives the benefit of any statute or rule of law now provided, or which may hereafter 

be provided, which would produce a result contrary to or in conflict with this sentence. 

 

(e) Secured Party may apply any moneys and proceeds received by Secured 

Party as a result of the exercise by Secured Party of any right conferred under this Section 3.02 

in such order as Secured Party in its discretion may elect against (i) all costs and expenses, 

including reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred in connection with the operation of the 

Recreational Project, the performance of the lessor’s obligations under the Leases and the 

collection of the rents thereunder; (ii) all costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ 

fees, incurred in the collection of any or all of the Obligations, including those incurred in 

seeking to realize on or to protect or preserve Secured Party’s interest in any other collateral 

securing any or all of the Obligations; (iii) any or all unpaid principal on the Obligations; (iv) 

any other amounts owing under the Documents; and (v) accrued interest and charges on any or 

all of the foregoing. Any residual after such application shall be paid to the City. 

 

GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 

4.01 No Waiver: Remedies Cumulative. No delay or omission by Secured Party to 

exercise any right, power or remedy accruing upon any Default shall exhaust or impair any such 

right, power or remedy or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such Default, or acquiescence 

therein, and every right, power and remedy given by this instrument to Secured Party may be 

exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient by Secured Party.  No 

consent or waiver, expressed or implied, by Secured Party to or of any Default shall be deemed 

or construed to be a consent or waiver to or of any other Default.  No delay, indulgence, 

departure, act or omission by Secured Party shall release, discharge, modify, change or otherwise 

affect the obligations of Originator or the City or any subsequent purchaser of the Recreational 

Project or any part thereof, or preclude Secured Party from exercising any right, privilege or 

power granted herein or alter the security title, security interest or lien hereof. No right, power or 

remedy conferred upon or reserved to Secured Party hereunder is intended to be exclusive of any 

other right, power or remedy, but each and every such right, power and remedy shall be 

cumulative and concurrent and shall be in addition to any other right, power and remedy given 

hereunder or under the other Documents or now or hereafter existing at law, in equity or by 

statute. 

 

4.02 No Obligation to Third Parties. The Documents are made solely for the benefit of 

Secured Party. No tenant nor any party involved with the construction of any improvements on 



9 

any part of the Recreational Project nor any other party whatsoever shall have standing to bring 

any action against Secured Party as the result of the Documents, or to assume that Secured Party 

will exercise any remedies provided herein, and no party other than Secured Party shall be 

deemed to be a beneficiary of any provision of the Documents, any and all of which may be 

freely waived in whole or in part by Secured Party in its discretion at any time.  Nothing 

contained in the Documents shall be deemed to impose upon Secured Party any liability for the 

performance of any obligation of Originator under any of the Documents, Leases or Contracts. 

Nothing contained in this Section 4.02 is intended to deprive Originator or the City of the benefit 

of any covenant by Secured Party in favor of Originator or the City contained in the Documents. 

 

4.03 Miscellaneous. This Instrument shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon 

Originator and Secured Party and their respective heirs, executors, legal representatives, 

successors, successors-in-title and assigns, subject to all restrictions on transfers herein. The 

Documents (and any interest therein) are assignable by Secured Party, and any assignment of the 

Documents by Secured Party shall operate to vest in the assignee all rights and powers conferred 

upon and granted to Secured Party by the Documents; and, in the event of any such assignment 

of the entire interest of Secured Party in the Documents, Secured Party shall be relieved of all 

obligations and liabilities under the Documents; the Documents may not be assigned by 

Originator without the prior consent of Secured Party, which may be given or withheld at the 

discretion of Secured Party.  Reasonable notice of such assignment shall be given to the City.  

The Documents may be changed, waived, discharged or terminated only by an instrument in 

writing signed by the party against whom enforcement of such change, waiver, discharge or 

termination is sought.  The Documents contain the entire agreement between Originator and 

Secured Party and between the Originator and the City relating to the transactions contemplated 

hereby and supersede entirely any and all prior written or oral agreements with respect thereto; 

and Originator and Secured Party hereto acknowledge and agree that there are no 

contemporaneous oral agreements with respect to the subject matter hereof. Nothing contained in 

the Documents shall be construed to create an agency, partnership or joint venture between 

Originator, the City and Secured Party.  All personal pronouns used in the Documents whether 

used in the masculine, feminine or neuter gender, shall include all other genders; the singular 

shall include the plural, and vice versa. Titles of articles and sections in the Documents are for 

convenience only and in no way define, limit, amplify or describe the scope or intent of any 

provisions thereof.  If more than one person or entity constitutes Originator, all of the provisions 

of the Documents referring to Originator shall be construed to refer to each such person or entity 

individually as well as collectively.  When anything is described in the Documents in general 

terms and one or more examples or components of what has been described generally is 

associated with that description (whether or not following the word “including”), the examples or 

components shall be deemed illustrative only and shall not be construed as limiting the generality 

of the description in any way.  Wherever in the Documents the approval or consent of Secured 

Party is required or permitted, or wherever a requirement of Secured Party or the standard of 

acceptability or satisfaction of Secured Party must be determined, such approval, consent or 

determination of Secured Party shall not be unreasonably exercised; provided, however, that 

wherever it is indicated that such approval, consent or determination is to be given or made at the 

option or in the discretion or judgment of Secured Party, then Secured Party may grant or 

withhold such approval or consent or make such determination without restriction in its sole and 

absolute discretion.  If any provisions of the Documents or the application thereof to any person 



10 

or circumstance shall be invalid or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of each of the 

Documents and the application of such provisions to other persons or circumstances shall not be 

affected thereby and shall be enforced to the greatest extent permitted by law. Time is of the 

essence with respect to each and every covenant, agreement and obligation of Originator under 

the Documents. All exhibits referred to in the Documents are by such reference incorporated into 

the Documents as if fully set forth therein. 

 

4.04 Communications.  Unless and except as otherwise specifically provided herein, 

any and all notices, elections, approvals, consents, demands, requests and responses thereto 

(“Communications”) permitted or required to be given under the Documents shall be in writing, 

signed by or on behalf of the party giving the same, and shall be deemed to have been properly 

given and shall be effective upon the earlier of receipt thereof or deposit in the United States 

mail, postage prepaid, certified with return receipt requested to the other party at the address of 

such other party set forth hereinbelow or at such other address within the continental United 

States as such other party may designate by notice specifically designated as a notice of change 

of address and given in accordance herewith; provided, however, that the time period in which a 

response to any such Communication must be given shall commence on the date of receipt 

thereof; and provided further that no notice of change of address shall be effective with respect to 

Communications sent prior to the time of receipt thereof. Receipt of Communications under the 

Documents shall occur upon actual delivery (whether by mail, telecopy transmission, messenger, 

courier service, or otherwise) to any person who is Originator or an officer or general partner of 

Originator at any location where such person may be found, or to an officer, partner, agent or 

employee of Originator or Secured Party, at the address of such party set forth hereinbelow, 

subject to change as provided hereinabove. An attempted delivery in accordance with the 

foregoing, acceptance of which is refused or rejected, shall be deemed to be and shall constitute 

delivery; and an attempted delivery in accordance with the foregoing by mail, messenger, or 

courier service (whichever is chosen by the sender) which is not completed because of changed 

address of which no notice has been received by the sender in accordance with this provision 

shall also be deemed to be and constitute receipt. Any such Communication, if given to Secured 

Party, shall be addressed as follows, subject to change as provided hereinabove: 

 

Branch Banking and Trust Company 

5130 Parkway Plaza Blvd.  

Charlotte, NC 28217  

Attention: Matthew Williams 

 

With a copy to: 

 

Murray Barnes Finister, LLP 

3525 Piedmont Road 

Building 5, Suite 515 

Atlanta, GA 30305 

Attention: Teresa Finister 

 

 



11 

and, if given to Originator, must be addressed as follows, subject to change as provided 

hereinabove: 

 

Georgia Municipal Association, Inc. 

201 Pryor Street 

Atlanta, Georgia 30303 

(678) 686-6364 (Fax) 

Attention: Lease Program Administrator 

 

With a copy to: 

 

Counsel to Georgia Municipal Association, Inc. 

201 Pryor Street 

Atlanta, Georgia 30303 

(678) 686-6364 (Fax) 

Attention:  Susan Moore, Esq. 

 

With a copy to: 

 

City of Fayetteville 

240 South Glynn Street  

Fayetteville, GA  30214-2040 

Attention:  City Manager 

 

4.05 Additional Obligations.  There shall be included in the Obligations secured hereby 

all liabilities, obligations, claims, damages, penalties, causes of action, costs and expenses 

(including attorneys’ fees and expenses) imposed upon or incurred by Secured Party by reason of 

(a) any claim for brokerage fees or other such commissions relating to the Recreational Project 

or the Obligations, or (b) the condition of the Recreational Project, or (c) failure to pay 

recording, mortgage, intangibles or similar taxes, fees or charges relating to the Installment Sale 

Agreement or any one or more of the Documents, or (d) the Documents or any claim or demand 

whatsoever which may be asserted against Secured Party by reason of any alleged action, 

obligation or undertaking of Secured Party relating in any way to the Obligations or to any 

matter contemplated by the Documents.  In the event Secured Party incurs any liability, loss or 

damage arising out of or in any way relating to the transaction contemplated by the Documents 

(including any of the matters referred to in this section), the amounts of such liability, loss or 

damage shall be added to the Obligations, shall bear interest at the interest rate specified in the 

Installment Sale Agreement from the date incurred until paid and shall be deemed payable and 

due on its incurrence. 

 

4.06 Greater Estate. In the event that Originator is the owner of a leasehold estate with 

respect to any portion of the Recreational Project and Originator obtains a fee estate in such 

portion of the Recreational Project, then, such fee estate shall automatically, and without further 

action of any kind on the part of Originator, be and become subject to the security title and lien 

hereof. 

 



12 

4.07 Applicable Law. This Instrument shall be interpreted, construed and enforced 

according to the laws of the State of Georgia. 

 



[Deed to Secure Debt and Security Agreement] 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Originator has executed this Instrument under seal, as of the 

day and year first above written. 

 

Signed, sealed and delivered 

in the presence of: 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Unofficial Witness 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Notary Public 

 

GEORGIA MUNICIPAL ASSOCIATION, INC. 

 

 

By: __________________________________ 

Larry H. Hanson, Executive Director 

 

 

[SEAL] 

 

 

My Commission Expires: 

 

_______________________________ 

 

 

[NOTARIAL SEAL] 

 

Attest: 

 

 

By: __________________________________ 

Darin Jenkins 

Financial Services Program Manager 

 

 

 

 

 



[Deed to Secure Debt and Security Agreement] 

Secured Party has executed this Instrument for the purpose of becoming a signatory to the 

security agreement set forth herein. 

 

 BRANCH BANKING AND TRUST 

COMPANY 

 

 

By: _____________________________________ 

Name:  Matthew Williams 

Title:    Vice President 

 

 



 

EXHIBIT “A” 

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE LAND: 

 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

ALL THAT TRACT or parcel of land lying and being in Land Lot 123 of the 5th District of 

Fayette County, Georgia and being more particularly described as follows: 

 

BEGINNING at a found 1 1/2” open top pipe at the southwest corner of Land Lot 123 of the 5th 

District of Fayette County, Georgia; 

 

Thence along the west line of said Land Lot 123 also being the east line of lands shown in Plat 

Book 36 Page 46, North 00 degrees 28 minutes 32 seconds East, a distance of 239.59 feet to a 

found 1/2” rebar; 

 

Thence along the south line of City of Fayetteville Cemetery, South 89 degrees 31 minutes 36 

seconds East, a distance of 538.98 feet to a found nail and disk; 

 

Thence along the west line of City of Fayetteville Cemetery, North 00 degrees 28 minutes 24 

seconds East, a distance of 625.09 feet to the south right-of-way of Stonewall Avenue; 

 

Thence along said right-of-way, South 89 degrees 03 minutes 27 seconds East, a distance of 

50.00 feet; 

 

Thence leaving said right-of-way, South 00 degrees 28 minutes 24 seconds West, a distance of 

310.67 feet; 

 

Thence South 89 degrees 47 minutes 58 seconds East, a distance of 284.41 feet to the west line 

of lands described in Deed Book 484 Page 480; 

 

Thence along said west line, South 00 degrees 12 minutes 02 seconds West, a distance of 571.37 

feet to a found 1/2” rebar on the south line of Land Lot 123; 

 

Thence along said south line, North 88 degrees 27 minutes 12 seconds West, a distance of 

876.26 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING. 

 

Containing 7.76 acres, more or less. 

 



 

EXHIBIT “B” 

 

DESCRIPTION OF FACILITIES: 

 

 

All buildings, structures and improvements of every nature whatsoever now or hereafter situated 

on, under or above the Land. 

  

 



AGREEMENT REGARDING ENVIRONMENTAL ACTIVITY 

 

 

THIS AGREEMENT REGARDING ENVIRONMENTAL ACTIVITY (this 

“Agreement”) is made as of this ___ day of June, 2018, by the CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE, 

GEORGIA, a municipal corporation of the State of Georgia (“City”), in favor of BRANCH 

BANKING AND TRUST COMPANY, a North Carolina banking corporation (“Lender”), and 

GEORGIA MUNICIPAL ASSOCIATION, INC., a Georgia nonprofit corporation 

(“Originator”) (Lender and Originator being referred to as “Seller” herein, each individually 

having full benefit of the obligations of the City hereunder). 

 

ARTICLE 1 

 

BACKGROUND AND AGREEMENT 

 

A. Background.  Seller has agreed to extend credit to the City in the principal amount 

of $2,895,000 evidenced by an Installment Sale Agreement (the “Installment Sale Agreement”) 

in the aforesaid principal amount, which has been assigned by Originator to Lender.  Lender’s 

rights under the Installment Sale Agreement are secured by a Deed to Secure Debt and Security 

Agreement (the “Security Deed”) made by Originator in favor of Lender, of even date herewith, 

conveying an interest in certain real property and the improvements thereon (the “Recreational 

Project”) located in the City of Fayetteville, Georgia and described in Exhibit A attached hereto.  

The Installment Sale Agreement, the Security Deed and all other documents evidencing, securing 

or otherwise relating to the Installment Sale Agreement are herein referred to collectively as the 

“Documents.”  Due to the concerns of Seller relating to Hazardous Substances, Seller is 

unwilling to enter into or fund the Installment Sale Agreement without the receipt by Seller of 

this Agreement, which is given by the City as an agreement, separate and distinct from the 

Documents, to induce Seller to enter into the Documents. 

 

 B. Statement of Agreement.  For and in consideration of the sum of $10.00 and other 

valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by the 

City, the City does hereby make the following certifications, representations and warranties to, 

and covenants and agreements with, Seller. 

 

ARTICLE 2 

 

DEFINITIONS 

 

 In addition to the other terms defined herein, the following terms shall have the meanings 

set forth in this Article II. 

 

 A. Affected Property.  Any property other than the Recreational Project which is 

affected by the Use of the Recreational Project or by any Environmental Activity related to the 

Recreational Project. 

 



2 

 B. Environmental Activity.  Any actual, proposed or threatened use, storage, 

holding, existence, release, emission, discharge, generation, processing, abatement, removal, 

disposition, handling or transportation of any Hazardous Substance from, to, upon, in, under or 

above the Recreational Project or otherwise relating to the Recreational Project or the Use of the 

Recreational Project or relating to any Affected Property, or any other activity or occurrence that 

causes or would cause any such event to exist. 

 

 C. Environmental Requirements.  All “Super Fund” or “Super Lien” laws relating to 

any Hazardous Substance or Environmental Activity, and all other present and future federal, 

state and local laws, statutes, authorizations, judgments, decrees, concessions, grants, franchises, 

agreements, ordinances, codes, rules, regulations, orders and other governmental restrictions and 

requirements regulating, relating to or imposing liability or a standard of conduct concerning the 

environment or any Hazardous Substances or Environmental Activity including, without 

limitation, the following, as the same may be amended from time to time, and all regulations 

promulgated thereunder or in connection therewith: 

 

  Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 

1980, as amended by the Super Fund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986, 42 U.S.C. 

9601 et seq. (“CERCLA”). 

 

  Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, 42 U.S.C. 6901 et seq. 

 

  Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. 7401-7626. 

 

  Water Pollution Control Act (commonly referred to as the Clean Water Act), 

33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq. 

 

  Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act, as amended by the Federal 

Environmental Pesticide Control Act of 1972 and by the Federal Pesticide Act of 1978, 7 U.S.C. 

136 et seq. 

 

  Toxic Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.C. 2601 et seq. 

 

  Safe Drinking Water Act, 42 U.S.C. 300(f) et seq. 

 

  Occupational Safety and Health Act, 42 U.S.C. 651 et seq. 

 

  National Environmental Policy Act, 42 U.S.C. 4321 et seq. 

 

  Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, 49 U.S.C. 1471 et seq. 

 

  Refuse Act, 33 U.S.C. 407 et seq. 

 

  Emergency Planning And Community Right-To-Know Act, 42 U.S.C. 1101 

et seq. 

 



3 

  Georgia Hazardous Site Response Act, O.C.G.A. § 12-8-90 et seq. 

 

 D. Hazardous Substance.  Any substance which is a “hazardous substance” (as 

defined in CERCLA), or any other substance or material defined, designated, classified or 

considered as hazardous or toxic waste, hazardous or toxic material, or a hazardous, toxic, 

radioactive, regulated or dangerous substance or air pollutant under any Environmental 

Requirement. 

 

 E. Indemnitees.  Seller and each of its predecessors, successors and assigns, and each 

past and present, direct and indirect, parent, subsidiary and affiliated entity of each of the 

foregoing, and each past and present employee, agent, attorney-in-fact, attorney-at-law, 

representative, officer, director, shareholder, partner, participant and joint venturer of each of the 

foregoing, and each heir, executor, administrator, successor and assign of each of the foregoing; 

references in this paragraph to “any” of such parties shall be deemed to mean “any one or more” 

of such parties; and references in this sentence to “each of the foregoing” shall mean and refer 

cumulatively to each party referred to in this sentence up to the point of such reference. 

 

 F. Phase I.  Phase I Environmental Site Assessment of Fayette County Board of 

Education Bus Barn Site, 210 Stonewall Avenue West, Fayetteville, Fayette County, Georgia, 

Project No. 117423 conducted by Piedmont Geotechnical Consultants, Inc. dated November 29, 

2017. 

 

G. Phase II.  Limited Phase II Environmental Site Assessment of Fayette County 

Board of Education Bus Barn Site, 210 Stonewall Avenue West, Fayetteville, Fayette County, 

Georgia, Project No. 117423conducted by Piedmont Geotechnical Consultants, Inc. dated 

January 12, 2018. 

 

H. PPCAP.  Prospective Purchaser Corrective Action Plan, Fayette County Board of 

Education Bus Barn Site, 210 Stonewall Avenue West, Fayetteville, Fayette County, Georgia, 

Project No. 117423, prepared by Piedmont Geotechnical Consultants, Inc., dated March 30, 

2018. 

 

I. Proximate Property.  Property located in such proximity to the Recreational 

Project that the Recreational Project might be affected by Related Activity thereon. 

 

 J. Related Activity.  Any Use, activity, condition, circumstance or state of facts 

existing or occurring other than with respect to the Recreational Project or Affected Property 

which would, if existing or occurring with respect to the Recreational Project or Affected 

Property, constitute an Environmental Activity. 

 

 K. Use. Use, ownership, leasing, development, construction, maintenance, 

management, operation or occupancy. 

 



4 

ARTICLE 3 

 

CERTIFICATIONS, REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

 

 A. Investigation.  The City certifies, represents and warrants to Seller that it has duly 

investigated the present and past uses of the Recreational Project, as to whether the Recreational 

Project or any Proximate Property is or has been the site of storage of or contamination by any 

Hazardous Substances or the subject of any other Environmental Activity. 

 

 B. Related Liability.  Except as described in paragraph (D) below, the City certifies, 

represents and warrants to Seller that the City has given no release or waiver of liability that 

would waive or impair any claim based on any Environmental Activity to a previous owner of 

the Recreational Project or to any party who may be potentially responsible for the Recreational 

Project; and that the City has no liability, absolute or contingent in connection with any 

Environmental Activity. 

 

 C. Compliance.  Except as previously disclosed to the Seller and the Lender in 

writing, and as disclosed in paragraph (D) below, the City certifies, represents and warrants to 

Seller that: (a) to its best knowledge, the City and the Recreational Project are in compliance in 

all material respects with all applicable Environmental Requirements; and (b) no investigations, 

inquiries, orders, hearings, actions or other proceedings by or before any governmental agency 

are pending or, to the best knowledge of the City, threatened in connection with any 

Environmental Activity or alleged Environmental Activity; and (c) the City has no knowledge, 

after due investigation, of the presence of any Hazardous Substances upon the Recreational 

Project; and (d) the City has no knowledge, after due investigation, of any facts or circumstances 

existing upon, in, under or above the Recreational Project or relating to the Recreational Project 

which may violate any applicable Environmental Requirement; and (e) the Use of the 

Recreational Project for its intended purpose will not result in any Environmental Activity in 

violation of any applicable Environmental Requirements; and (f) to the best knowledge of the 

City, after due inquiry, there is no Related Activity upon, in, under or above any Proximate 

Property; and (g) the City has not engaged in any Environmental Activity and, to the best 

knowledge of the City, after due investigation, no Environmental Activity has otherwise 

occurred, and no notice, order, directive, complaint or other communication, written or oral, has 

been made or issued by any governmental agency or other person or entity alleging the 

occurrence of any Environmental Activity in violation of any Environmental Requirements; and 

(h) the City has obtained and will at all times continue to obtain and maintain all licenses, 

permits or other governmental or regulatory approvals or consents, if any, necessary to comply 

with all Environmental Requirements relating to the Recreational Project and any Affected 

Property, and the City is and shall continue at all times to be in compliance with said licenses, 

permits, approvals or consents; and (i) to the best knowledge of the City, no other property now 

or previously owned by the City is under investigation with respect to, or is or has been in 

violation of any Environmental Requirement during the period of time that the City owned such 

property, except as disclosed in writing to the Lender. 

 

 D. Phase I, Phase II and PPCAP. The results of the Phase I conducted by Piedmont 

Geotechnical Consultants, Inc. (“Piedmont”) revealed three recognized environmental 



5 

conditions including: (1) active and former underground storage tanks (“UST”) on the 

Recreational Project, (2) active and former automotive repair buildings on the Recreational 

Project and (3) EDR “D11” and “D12” – former Mask Tire Company site approximately 875 

feet from the Recreational Project.  The Phase II was completed by Piedmont revealing the 

presence of benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, zylenes and other petroleum product constituents in 

certain soil, groundwater and soil gas samples tested.  Based upon the results of the 

environmental site assessments, the City submitted the PPCAP that was approved by the Georgia 

Department of Natural Resources Environmental Protection Division via letter dated April 5, 

2018.  The Originator has, prior to the date of this Agreement, obtained reliance letters from 

Piedmont concerning the Phase I and Phase II reports, and has been added by amendment to the 

PPCAP as an additional applicant. 

 

 Pursuant to the Georgia Brownfield Act (Article 9 of Chapter 8 of Title 12 of the Official 

Code of Georgia Annotated), and provided the City complies with the PPCAP, the City certifies 

that the City and Originator will “not be liable to the [S]tate [of Georgia] or any third party for 

costs incurred in the remediation of, equitable relief relating to, or damages resultant from the 

preexisting release, nor shall the prospective purchaser be required to certify compliance with 

risk reductions standards for groundwater, perform corrective action, or otherwise be liable for 

any preexisting releases to ground water associated with the qualifying property.” 

 

ARTICLE 4 

 

COVENANTS, AGREEMENTS, AND INDEMNITY 

 

 A. Performance.  The City shall at all times, at its sole expense, comply with, and 

cause the Recreational Project to comply with, all applicable Environmental Requirements 

relating to the Recreational Project or the ownership of the Recreational Project or relating to any 

Affected Property, and the City shall not engage in or otherwise permit the occurrence of any 

Environmental Activity in violation of any applicable Environmental Requirement.  

Furthermore, the City shall at all times during the term thereof, at its sole expense, comply with 

the terms and conditions of the PPCAP, as amended. 

 

 B. Notice.  The City shall immediately notify Seller if the City becomes aware of (a) 

the presence of any Hazardous Substances or other environmental problem or liability with 

respect to the Recreational Project, any Affected Property or any Proximate Property; or (b) any 

lien, action or notice resulting from violation or alleged violation of, or action pursuant to, any 

Environmental Regulation as the same pertains to the Recreational Project, or any other property 

now or previously owned by the City, or any Affected Property, or any Proximate Property; or 

(c) the institution of any investigation, inquiry or proceeding concerning the City or the 

Recreational Project or any Affected Property pursuant to any Environmental Requirement; or 

(d) the discovery of any occurrence, condition or state of facts which would render any 

representation contained in this Agreement incorrect in any respect if made at the time of such 

discovery. 

 

 C. Indemnity.  To the extent permitted by law, the City shall indemnify, defend and 

save and hold harmless each Indemnitee from and against any and all claims, demands, defenses, 



6 

set-offs, counterclaims, damages, disbursements, losses, judgments, liens, liabilities, penalties, 

objections, injuries, fines, litigation, lawsuits and other proceedings and costs and expenses 

(including attorneys’ fees and disbursements and the reasonable charges of the Indemnitee’s 

internal legal counsel, including fees in appellate and bankruptcy proceedings) which accrue 

against or are incurred by Seller and arise directly or indirectly from or out of or in any way 

connected with (a) the failure of any certification, representation or warranty contained in this 

Agreement to be true and correct in all respects; or (b) the presence of any Hazardous Substance 

upon the Recreational Project or any Affected Property; or (c) the occurrence of any 

Environmental Activity or any failure of the City or any other person or entity to comply with all 

applicable Environmental Requirements relating to the Recreational Project or the Use of the 

Recreational Project or relating to any Affected Property; or (d) any investigation, inquiry, order, 

hearing, action or other proceeding by or before any governmental agency in connection with 

any actual or alleged Environmental Activity; or (e) the occurrence of any Related Activity or 

the violation of any Environmental Requirement in connection with any other property owned by 

the City, which occurrence or violation gives or may give rise to any rights whatsoever in any 

party whatsoever with respect to the Recreational Project; or (f) any failure of the City to 

perform any covenant set forth in this Agreement; or (g) any claim, demand or cause of action, 

or any action or other proceeding, whether meritorious or not, brought or asserted against any 

Indemnitee which directly or indirectly relates to, arises from or is based on any of the matters 

described in clauses (a) through (f) of this section or any allegation of such matters. The 

foregoing indemnity is in no way conditioned upon fault on the part of the City or upon any other 

event, occurrence, matter or circumstance, except as specifically set forth above in this section. 

 

ARTICLE 5 

 

GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 

 A. Unconditional Obligations.  The obligations of the City under this Agreement are 

unconditional. The City hereby expressly waives and renounces (to the extent it may lawfully do 

so) any and all claims, defenses and other rights which are dependent upon an allegation or 

proposition contrary to the foregoing provisions of this section. 

 

 B. Costs and Expenses.  The City shall pay to each Indemnitee all costs and expenses 

(including attorneys’ fees and disbursements and the reasonable charges of the Indemnitee’s  

legal counsel, including fees in appellate and bankruptcy proceedings) incurred by any 

Indemnitee in connection with this Agreement or the enforcement of the terms of this 

Agreement. 

 

 C. No Waiver: Remedies Cumulative.  No delay or omission by any Indemnitee to 

exercise any right or remedy accruing upon any default hereunder shall exhaust or impair any 

such right or remedy or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such default, or acquiescence 

therein, and every right and remedy given by this Agreement to any Indemnitee may be 

exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient by any Indemnitee. No 

consent or waiver, express or implied, by any Indemnitee to or of any default shall be deemed or 

construed to be a consent or waiver to or of any other default. No delay, indulgence, departure, 

act or omission by any Indemnitee shall release, discharge, modify, change or otherwise affect 



7 

the liability or other obligation of the City or any surety or guarantor, or preclude any Indemnitee 

from exercising any right, privilege or remedy granted herein. No right or remedy conferred 

upon or reserved to any Indemnitee hereunder is intended to be exclusive of any other right or 

remedy, but each and every such right and remedy shall be cumulative and concurrent and shall 

be in addition to every other right and remedy given hereunder or under any other agreement 

between the City and any Indemnitee or now or hereafter existing at law, in equity or by statute. 

 

 D. Communications.  Any and all notices, elections, approvals, consents, demands, 

requests and responses thereto (“Communications”) permitted or required to be given under this 

Agreement shall be in writing signed by or on behalf of the party giving the same, and shall be 

deemed to have been properly given and shall be effective upon being personally delivered, or 

upon being deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid, certified with return receipt 

requested, to the other party at the address of such other party set forth below or at such other 

address within the continental United States as such other party may designate by notice 

specifically designated as a notice of change of address and given in accordance herewith; 

provided, however, that the time period in which a response to any Communication must be 

given shall commence on the date of receipt thereof; and provided further that no notice of 

change of address shall be effective until the date of receipt thereof. Personal delivery to a party 

or to any officer, partner, agent or employee of such party at said address shall constitute receipt. 

Rejection or other refusal to accept or inability to deliver because of changed address of a which 

no notice has been received shall also constitute receipt.  Any Communication, if given to 

Lender, shall be addressed as follows: 

 

Branch Banking and Trust Company 

5130 Parkway Plaza Blvd.  

Charlotte, NC 28217  

Attention: Matthew Williams 

 

with a copy to: 

 

Murray Barnes Finister, LLP 

3525 Piedmont Road 

Building 5, Suite 515 

Atlanta, GA 30305 

Attention: Teresa Finister 

 

if given to Originator, shall be addressed as follows: 

 

Georgia Municipal Association, Inc. 

201 Pryor Street 

Atlanta, Georgia  30303 

Attention: Lease Program Administrator 

 

with a copy to:  

Counsel to Georgia Municipal Association, Inc. 

201 Pryor Street 



8 

Atlanta, Georgia  30303 

Attention: Susan Moore, Esq. 

 

and, if given to the City, shall be addressed as follows: 

 

City of Fayetteville 

240 South Glynn Street 

Fayetteville, GA  30214 

Attention:  City Manager 

 

with a copy to: 

Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP 

Atlantic Station 

201 17
th

 Street NW, Suite 1700 

Atlanta, GA 30363 

Attention: David P. Winkle, Esq. 

 

with a copy to: 

Butler Snow LLP 

577 Mulberry Street, Suite 1225 

Macon, Georgia  31201 

Attention: Blake C. Sharpton, Esq. 

 

 E. Miscellaneous.  This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon 

the City and Seller and the other Indemnitees and their respective heirs, executors, legal 

representatives, successors and assigns.  All personal pronouns used in this Agreement whether 

used in the masculine, feminine or neuter gender, shall include all other genders; the singular 

shall include the plural, and vice versa. Titles of articles and sections in this Agreement are for 

convenience only and in no way define, limit, amplify or describe the scope or intent of any 

provisions hereof.  If any provisions hereof or the application thereof to any person or 

circumstance shall be invalid or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Agreement 

and the application of such provisions to other persons or circumstances shall not be affected 

thereby and shall be enforced to the greatest extent permitted by law.  This Agreement is 

assignable by Seller, and any assignment by Seller shall operate to vest in the assignee all rights 

and powers conferred upon and granted to Seller hereby.  Time is of the essence with respect to 

each and every covenant, agreement and obligation of the City hereunder.  The provisions hereof 

may be changed, waived, discharged or terminated only by an instrument in writing signed by 

the party against whom enforcement of such change, waiver, discharge or termination is sought. 

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the City and Seller relating to 

Hazardous Substances affecting the Recreational Project or any Affected Property and the 

indemnity set forth hereinabove.  This Agreement shall be construed so that it may be enforced 

by either Lender or Originator, acting independently for their own account, or by Lender and 

Originator jointly, at their option. 

 

 F. Transfers and Survival.  The parties hereto contemplate that liability may arise 

hereunder after full payment or termination of the Installment Sale Agreement, and that liability 



9 

may arise hereunder prior to full payment of the Installment Sale Agreement and remain unpaid 

after full payment of the Installment Sale Agreement, and it is specifically agreed that this 

Agreement (including the indemnity provided hereby) shall survive the full payment of the 

Installment Sale Agreement, the foreclosure of the Security Deed, the transfer of the 

Recreational Project, and all other events relating to the Installment Sale Agreement or the 

Recreational Project.  The City hereby acknowledges and agrees that the benefits of this 

Agreement (including said indemnity) shall continue in favor of Indemnitees notwithstanding 

any transfer or assignment hereof by the Indemnitees or any of them, and shall also run to 

transferees and assignees hereof as additional Indemnitees. 

 

 G. Applicable Law.  This Agreement shall be interpreted, construed and enforced 

according to the laws of the State of Georgia. 

 

 

 

[Signature pages follow on next page] 
 



[Agreement Regarding Environmental Activity] 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has executed this Agreement under seal, as of the 

day and year first above written. 

 

 

 

[SEAL] 

 

CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE, GEORGIA 

 

 

By: _________________________________ 

Edward J. Johnson, Jr., Mayor 

 

 

 

Attest:  

 

 

 

By:___________________________ 

      Anne Barksdale, City Clerk 

 

 

Approved as to Form and Content: 

 

 

 

By:___________________________________ 

      David P. Winkle, City Attorney 



[Agreement Regarding Environmental Activity] 

Originator and Lender have executed this Instrument for the purposes of becoming a 

signatory hereto and acknowledging their rights hereunder. 

 

 BRANCH BANKING AND TRUST 

COMPANY 

 

 

By: ____________________________________ 

Name:  Matthew Williams 

Title:    Vice President 

 

  



[Agreement Regarding Environmental Activity] 

 GEORGIA MUNICIPAL ASSOCIATION, 

INC. 

 

 

By: ____________________________________ 

Larry H. Hanson 

Executive Director 

 

Attest: _________________________________ 

Darin Jenkins 

Financial Services Program Manager 

 

        



 

EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

ALL THAT TRACT or parcel of land lying and being in Land Lot 123 of the 5th District of 

Fayette County, Georgia and being more particularly described as follows: 

 

BEGINNING at a found 1 1/2” open top pipe at the southwest corner of Land Lot 123 of the 5th 

District of Fayette County, Georgia; 

 

Thence along the west line of said Land Lot 123 also being the east line of lands shown in Plat 

Book 36 Page 46, North 00 degrees 28 minutes 32 seconds East, a distance of 239.59 feet to a 

found 1/2” rebar; 

 

Thence along the south line of City of Fayetteville Cemetery, South 89 degrees 31 minutes 36 

seconds East, a distance of 538.98 feet to a found nail and disk; 

 

Thence along the west line of City of Fayetteville Cemetery, North 00 degrees 28 minutes 24 

seconds East, a distance of 625.09 feet to the south right-of-way of Stonewall Avenue; 

 

Thence along said right-of-way, South 89 degrees 03 minutes 27 seconds East, a distance of 

50.00 feet; 

 

Thence leaving said right-of-way, South 00 degrees 28 minutes 24 seconds West, a distance of 

310.67 feet; 

 

Thence South 89 degrees 47 minutes 58 seconds East, a distance of 284.41 feet to the west line 

of lands described in Deed Book 484 Page 480; 

 

Thence along said west line, South 00 degrees 12 minutes 02 seconds West, a distance of 571.37 

feet to a found 1/2” rebar on the south line of Land Lot 123; 

 

Thence along said south line, North 88 degrees 27 minutes 12 seconds West, a distance of 

876.26 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING. 

 

Containing 7.76 acres, more or less. 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

After recording return to: 

 

Blake C. Sharpton 

Butler Snow LLP 

577 Mulberry Street, Suite 1225 

Macon, Georgia 31201 

(478) 238-1360 

 

 

STATE OF GEORGIA 

 

COUNTY OF FAYETTE 

 

 

ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFER AGREEMENT 

 

 

THIS ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFER AGREEMENT (hereinafter referred to as this 

“Agreement”) is made as of this ___ day of June, 2018, by and between GEORGIA 

MUNICIPAL ASSOCIATION, INC., a Georgia nonprofit corporation (hereinafter referred to as 

“Originator”), and BRANCH BANKING AND TRUST COMPANY, a North Carolina banking 

corporation (hereinafter referred to as “Lender”). 

 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

 

WHEREAS, Originator has entered into an Installment Sale Agreement (the 

“Installment Sale Agreement”) of even date herewith with the City of Fayetteville, Georgia 

(the “City”) with respect to a certain project (the “Recreational Project”); and 

 

WHEREAS, Lender has agreed to purchase and service the Installment Sale Agreement; 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the premises and other good and 

valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy thereof being hereby acknowledged, Originator 

and Lender hereby covenant and agree as follows: 

 

(a) Originator hereby absolutely assigns, transfers, conveys and sets over to Lender 

all the right, title and interest of Originator in, under, by virtue of the Installment Sale Agreement 

without recourse to the Originator (except for Originator’s right to indemnification and 



 

2 

attorney’s fees).  The Lender shall be deemed for all purposes the “Seller” under the Installment 

Sale Agreement, and shall have all rights, powers, remedies and responsibilities of Seller 

thereunder. 

 

(b) In addition to the Installment Sale Agreement, Originator hereby transfers to 

Lender the following original documents given in connection with the closing of the Installment 

Sale Agreement: 

 

(i) a certified copy of the Resolution approving the Installment Sale 

Agreement adopted by the Mayor and Council of the City; 

 

(ii) an Execution, Signature and No-Litigation Certificate of the City; 

 

(iii) opinion of Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP; 

 

(iv) a Deed to Secure Debt and Security Agreement from Originator to the 

Lender with respect to the Recreational Project securing all obligations scheduled under 

the Installment Sale Agreement (the “Security Deed”); 

 

(v) opinion of Butler Snow LLP;  

 

(vi) an Agreement Regarding Environmental Activity with respect to the 

Recreational Project from the City in favor of Originator and Lender; and 

 

(vii) all construction contracts and architect contracts related to the 

Recreational Project. 

 

(c) In consideration of the assignment contemplated by Paragraph (a) hereof, the 

Lender shall fund the Installment Sale Amount referred to in the Installment Sale Agreement in 

the amount of $2,895,000 on the date hereof.  No further payment or advance from Lender to 

Originator or the City shall be required and the purchase and sale of the Installment Sale 

Agreement will be immediately effective. 

 

(d) Originator hereby irrevocably directs the City under the Installment Sale 

Agreement to pay to Lender all installment payments, receipts and other amounts accruing or 

due under the Installment Sale Agreement and to otherwise regard Lender as “Seller” under the 

Installment Sale Agreement. 

 

(e) This Agreement shall not operate to place upon Originator or Lender any 

responsibility for the operation, control, care, management, ownership or repair of the 

Recreational Project. 

 

(f) Originator covenants, agrees, represents and warrants that Originator will not sell, 

assign, transfer, mortgage or pledge the Installment Sale Agreement or any of the installment 

payments, receipts and other amounts arising with respect to the Recreational Project to any 

person, firm or corporation other than Lender; that no installment payments, receipts and other 



 

3 

amounts arising with respect to the Recreational Project or under the Installment Sale Agreement 

or any part thereof, has been or will be anticipated, waived, released, discounted or otherwise 

discharged or compromised.  Originator agrees that it will cooperate to enforce or secure the 

performance of each and every obligation, covenant, condition and agreement to be performed 

by the City under the Installment Sale Agreement. 

 

(g) Originator agrees to execute and deliver to Lender, at any time or times during 

which this Agreement shall be in effect, such further instruments as Lender may reasonably 

require to make effective this Agreement or any Assignment and the several covenants of 

Originator herein or therein contained. 

 

(h) Lender shall have the right to further assign and transfer the Installment Sale 

Agreement and all collateral therefor, and to enter into participations with respect thereto; 

provided, reasonable notice of such assignment or transfer shall be given to the City. 

 

(i) No change, amendment, modification or cancellation or discharge hereof, or of 

any part hereof, shall be valid unless Lender and Originator shall have consented thereto in 

writing.  This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties. 

 

(j) The terms, covenants and conditions contained herein shall inure to the benefit of, 

and bind, Lender and Originator and their respective legal representatives, successors and 

assigns.  There shall be no third party beneficiaries of this Agreement. 

 

(k) This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of 

the State of Georgia. 

 

(l) Unless the context requires otherwise, capitalized terms used herein shall have the 

meanings ascribed thereto in the Installment Sale Agreement. 

 

 

[Signatures on Next Page] 



 

[Assignment and Transfer Agreement] 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Originator and Lender have executed this Agreement, the day 

and year first above written. 

 

 

Signed, sealed and delivered 

in the presence of: 

 

_________________________ 

Unofficial Witness 

 

 

 

GEORGIA MUNICIPAL ASSOCIATION, INC. 

 

 

By: __________________________________ 

Larry H.  Hanson, Executive Director 

 

 

[SEAL] 

 

 

_________________________ 

Notary Public 

 

My Commission Expires: 

 

_________________________ 

 

 

[NOTARIAL SEAL] 

 

Attest: 

 

 

By: __________________________________ 

Darin Jenkins 

Financial Services Program Manager 

 

  



 

[Assignment and Transfer Agreement] 

 

Signed, sealed and delivered 

in the presence of: 

 

_________________________ 

Unofficial Witness 

 

 

 

 

BRANCH BANKING AND TRUST 

COMPANY 

 

 

By: _____________________________________ 

Name:  Matthew Williams 

Title:    Vice President 

 

 

_________________________ 

Notary Public 

 

My Commission Expires: 

 

_________________________ 

 

 

[NOTARIAL SEAL] 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

[Assignment and Transfer Agreement] 

 



LOT 1 – 7.76 ACRES 

RECREATIONAL PROJECT 

 

ALL THAT TRACT or parcel of land lying and being in Land Lot 123 of the 5th District of 

Fayette County, Georgia and being more particularly described as follows: 

 

 BEGINNING at a found 1 1/2” open top pipe at the southwest corner of Land Lot 123 

of the 5th District of Fayette County, Georgia; 

 Thence along the west line of said Land Lot 123 also being the east line of lands shown 

in Plat Book 36 Page 46, North 00 degrees 28 minutes 32 seconds East, a distance of 239.59 

feet to a found 1/2” rebar; 

 Thence along the south line of City of Fayetteville Cemetery, South 89 degrees 31 

minutes 36 seconds East, a distance of 538.98 feet to a found nail and disk; 

 Thence along the west line of City of Fayetteville Cemetery, North 00 degrees 28 

minutes 24 seconds East, a distance of 625.09 feet to the south right-of-way of Stonewall 

Avenue; 

 Thence along said right-of-way, South 89 degrees 03 minutes 27 seconds East, a 

distance of 50.00 feet; 

 Thence leaving said right-of-way, South 00 degrees 28 minutes 24 seconds West, a 

distance of 310.67 feet; 

 Thence South 89 degrees 47 minutes 58 seconds East, a distance of 284.41 feet to the 

west line of lands described in Deed Book 484 Page 480; 

 Thence along said west line, South 00 degrees 12 minutes 02 seconds West, a distance 

of 571.37 feet to a found 1/2” rebar on the south line of Land Lot 123; 

 Thence along said south line, North 88 degrees 27 minutes 12 seconds West, a distance 

of 876.26 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING. 

 

Containing 7.76 acres, more or less. 

 

 

 


	Top
	1. Public Hearing - Bond Hearing
	Legal Ad - 5-30-18 Public Hearing.pdf
	5-30-18.docx
	City Resolution - City of Fayetteville (GMA) 2018 (5.29.2018)_42061259_3.DOCX
	Installment Sale Agreement - City of Fayetteville GMA) 2018 (5.29.2018)_42060962_4.DOCX
	Deed to Secure Debt - City of Fayetteville (GMA) 2018 (5.29.2018)_42061009_4.DOCX
	Agreement Regarding Environmental Activity - City of Fayetteville (GMA) 2018 (5.29.2018)_42061315_4.DOCX
	Assignment and Transfer Agreement - City of Fayetteville (GMA) 2018 (5.29.2018)_42060989_4.DOCX
	Recreational Project Legal Description_42437768_1.DOCX

	Bottom

